



University of Central Florida
STARS

Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019

2006

Caregiver Burden And Coping Responses For Females Who Are The Primary Caregiver For A Family Member Living With Hiv/aids In Kenya

Veronica Kimemia
University of Central Florida

Part of the Counselor Education Commons, and the Education Commons Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Doctoral Dissertation (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019 by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

STARS Citation

Kimemia, Veronica, "Caregiver Burden And Coping Responses For Females Who Are The Primary Caregiver For A Family Member Living With Hiv/aids In Kenya" (2006). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*, 2004-2019. 813.

https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/813



CAREGIVER BURDEN AND COPING RESPONSES FOR FEMALES WHO ARE THE PRIMARY CAREGIVER FOR A FAMILY MEMBER LIVING WITH HIV/AIDS IN KENYA

by

V. MUTHONI KIMEMIA B. Ed. Kenyatta University, 1992 M.A. Heidelberg College, 2003

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Child, Family and Community Sciences in the College of Education at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Spring Term 2006

Advisor: Dr. Andrew P. Daire

ABSTRACT

Caring for a family member who is ill can be a draining experience (Cooper et al., 2006; Daire, 2002; Zarit et al, 1980). Providing care for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS is potentially even more stressful because of social meanings associated with HIV/AIDS infection (Stajduhar, 1998) and the contagious nature of the HIV virus (Powell-Cope & Brown, 1992). Research indicates that most caregivers are female (Bunting, 2001; Songwathana, 2000). In Africa women bear the brunt of the burden of providing care for family members who are living with HIV/AIDS (Mushonga, 2001; Olenja, 1999).

This study examined coping factors and caregiver burden among female caregivers (N=116) of a family member living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. Coping factors were derived from a principal components factor analysis of the fourteen scales on the Brief Cope (Carver, 1997). Caregiver burden was measured using the Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory. Multiple regression analysis was used to investigate the relationships between caregiver burden and coping factors. Post–hoc multiple regression analyses further investigated the relationship between caregiver burden and caregiver demographic characteristics. The relationship between caregiver burden and care recipient characteristics was also investigated.

The principle components factor analysis of the Brief Cope yielded five coping factors that were labeled: Social support, Hope, Acceptance, Planning, and Disposition.

The regression analysis that was conducted to investigate the relationships between these five coping factors and caregiver burden indicated a significant inverse relationship between Hope and caregiver burden. The post-hoc analyses investigating the relationship

between various caregiver and care recipient characteristics indicated a significant relationship between the caregiver's age and caregiver burden, and education level and caregiver burden. An increase in age correlated with a decrease in caregiver burden. An increase in education level correlated with reduced caregiver burden. Implications of the findings for research and practice are discussed.

For Tabitha Njeri Kimemia Stay well mami, Cherio You are loved, still

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My deepest gratitude is to God almighty for countless blessings that He has brought my way, for placing a dream in my heart, and giving me the means to attain the dream. I want to thank my advisor, Dr. Andrew Daire who has given so selflessly of himself to make this dissertation possible. For opening the doors to your office, home, hallways, break-room, and allowing me to pester you everywhere at all sorts of hours; for replying to my emails at midnight, staying up to read my drafts, the timeline that became the lifeline of this work; for believing in me, and investing your precious time in me; I am forever indebted to you.

I want to thank my committee, Dr. Platt, Dr. Robinson, Dr. Ray, and Dr. Cruikshanks. I am truly grateful for your support and encouragement through every step of the way. You cared enough to help me refine my study with your questions. Thanks to my family at the UCF academy for Teaching, Learning and Leadership who have been so supportive in this entire process. Donna, Robin, Alice, Jeannie, Carlos, Ned, and Ana, I am truly thankful.

I am indebted to so many people who have helped me to get to this point. I thank my family, Baba, Mami, Muchiku, Lucia, Mukuhi, Dom, Njoki, and Maria. Baba, for giving us so many opportunities, providing all you could, and for loving us like you did, thanks. Mami, you called me Musa, you had so much faith in me. You saw what no one else could see. Thank you. My sisters and brother, you are my best friends and greatest cheerleaders. Thanks to Maina for giving us a home away from home, Peter for asking the practical questions, Peter for the most precious gift of time, and Jane, for allowing me to take Dom. To the Musangalis for your prayers and support, thank you. To my Ohio

family, the Hughes crew for opening the doors of your hearts and home to me, for letting me join the crew, thank you. Janet, my sincerest and deepest gratitude to you. I love you. A very special thanks to Dr. Getz and Nancy for believing in me, and the checks that you never tired of sending to sustain me. You have no idea how I appreciated everything. To Ashok, who saw the dream when many did not, thank you. Angie, thank you for unconditional love and friendship. Dr. Sanders and Dr. Lacy, you sowed the seed. Many thanks.

Thanks to the Holmes scholars at UCF for support and encouragement. Thanks Wendy for being there. Franklyn, gone but never forgotten. Thanks for bringing me to UCF. Thanks to the staff at Loreto Convent Valley Road. Mrs. Omondi, Samuel Aloyo, Simon Muchoki, Christine Njango, Gikonyo, Gladys, Martha Muthoni, and the people at WOFAK Korogocho and KENWA (Korogocho, Mathare, Soweto, and Pangani), I deeply appreciate your support in the research process, translation, administration, and recruiting caregivers. Thanks to my cohort for walking the journey with me.

Most important is my dearest husband Jimi, who has been the most patient and supportive husband I could ever wish for. You have sustained and supported me through the most trying times of my life. You are the most giving person I know. I could never have done this without you and I want you to know that your love and devotion have carried me through. Thanks for making my dream your own. My daughter, Warue, for allowing me to do this. Sorry for neglecting you as I often did in my race to the finish. The unconditional love that shines in your eyes is my inspiration.

Thank you to the Toni Jennings Exceptional Education Institute at UCF for funding my graduate assistantship, and affording me the time and space to write. This

dissertation was made possible by the endowment of an International Fellowship from the American Association of University Women. Thank you to my sponsors, Louise Pound and Aurelia Reinhardt.

Finally, to all female caregivers in Kenya, whose work is often unacknowledged, thank you for all you do.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	x
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
Social significance of the study	4
Statement of the problem	8
Rationale	10
Purpose of study	
Research Questions	14
Definition of terms	
Limitations	
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	19
HIV/AIDS: The African situation	19
HIV/AIDS in Kenya	
Caregiver Burden	
Caregivers of PLWHA	
Female Caregivers	
Caregivers in Kenya	
Coping responses	
Summary of the literature	
CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY	53
Research Questions and Hypotheses	53
Research Question A and Hypothesis	
Research Question B and Hypothesis	
Population	
Participants	56
Procedures	61
Instrumentation	64
Demographic Questionnaire	64
Caregiver Burden Inventory	65
Brief COPE	66
Translation of Instruments	69
Research Design	
Variables	
Independent variables	
Dependent variables	
Data Analysis	73

Research Question A	73
Research Question B	75
Post Analysis procedures	
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS	
Variables of Interest	78
Testing for Research Question A	
Testing for Research Question B	
Preliminary Analysis	
Summary of results for the multiple regression	
Post Hoc Analyses	
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION	
Limitations in the study	95
Implications for practice	
Implications for research	99
Conclusion	100
APPENDIX A: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL	102
APPENDIX B: PARTICIPANT INVITATIONAL LETTER	104
APPENDIX C: PARTICIPANT CONSENT LETTER	107
APPENDIX D: INSTRUMENTATION	110
REFERENCES	117

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Demographic Characteristics of the Female Caregivers: Age of Caregiver, Age of Care Recipient, Number of Years in School, Monthly Household Income and Number of Persons Living in Household	59
2.	Demographic Characteristics of the Female Caregivers: Duration of care, Number of Persons the Caregiver is Providing Care for, HIV Status of Caregiver, and Relationship to the Care Recipient	60
3.	Means and standard deviations among variables of interest	79
4.	Caregiver demographic variables and caregiver burden regression analyses	88
5.	Care recipient characteristics and caregiver burden regression analyses	89

LIST OF FIGURES

1. Correlation Matrix: Brief Cope scales and Coping Factors	81
2. Correlation Matrix: Caregiver Burden and Coping Factors	83
3. Factor Analysis Components	84

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

The Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) is an incurable virus that is transmitted through the exchange of bodily fluids, most notably blood and semen. The chief modes of transmission are sexual contact, perinatal transmission (infection from mother to child during pregnancy, at birth, or through breastfeeding), and blood transfusion (Kenya Ministry of Health, 2001). When an individual becomes infected with HIV, the virus begins to multiply in the body and within a few weeks, that individual becomes infectious to others with whom they may interact in the ways that serve to transmit the virus. AIDS is the secondary stage of HIV during which the immune system is compromised. The criteria for AIDS diagnosis has been set at a CD4 count (red blood cell) that is lower than 200/cubic mm, or the onset of any illness that is among a specified type of opportunistic infections (CDC, 1992). It can take years for an individual to develop AIDS from the time they contract the HIV virus.

As HIV/AIDS infection rates continued to increase globally (CDC, 2004), statistics indicated that Sub-Saharan Africa was the worst affected region with 28.1% adults and children living with HIV/AIDS. Further, 70% of the people living with HIV/AIDS were in Africa (UNAIDS/WHO, 2001). The UNAIDS (2001) report further noted that by 2001, AIDS had killed about 11.5 million people in sub-Saharan Africa, representing over 80% of total global AIDS related deaths. Akinsola (2001) estimated that practically

everyone in the African continent south of the Sahara had in some way been touched by the scourge of HIV, either by the illness and death of a family member, relative or friend

A review of the literature indicated that substantial research existed on the effects of HIV on the infected individuals. However, as Hanson (2002) observed, not much of the existing research specifically addressed the issues of AIDS caregivers. When an individual was diagnosed with HIV/AIDS, the family members were likely to experience much emotional distress as a result of this diagnosis. Therefore, even though they were not infected themselves, they were impacted by the diagnosis of HIV for a loved one. However, the existing literature paid little attention to this population that was continuing to increase with the escalations in the infection rates.

In addition, the little research that existed had mostly been conducted in the developing world where the social and economic environment differed from that of developing countries (D'Cruz, 2004). Many African countries lacked adequate resources to provide care for those infected with HIV/AIDS and the health care system remained inadequate to deliver even basic care (Freeman, 2004; Karim et al. 2002; Moore & Henry, 2005). The health infrastructure in sub-Saharan African countries experienced additional strain from the demands of the HIV/AIDS epidemic. Hospital bed occupancy for persons with HIV/AIDS related conditions ranged from 40% to 70% in some countries (UNAIDS, 2000). The additional demands on an already struggling health care system necessitated a move towards alternative methods of providing care for persons living with HIV/AIDS leading to a greater push towards community or home-based care (Karim, et. al., 2002; Ramanathan, et al., 2002).

Governments in Africa were pushing for home-based care to ease the burden on the already strained medical facilities in Africa (Ramanathan et. al., 2002; UNAIDS, 2001). However, efforts to equip home-based caregivers with the necessary skills and knowledge did not match the efforts to push home-based care. Consequently, when individuals received a positive HIV diagnosis, they were often sent back into their communities where their families took on caregiving duties without much preparation, training, or support (Hanson, 2002; Olenja, 1999). According to Hanson (2002), informal caregivers needed additional preparation and training for the responsibilities that they assumed when they took on the care of an ailing family member.

Campbell (2004) found that home-based care for Persons Living with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA) was optimal because the infected person remained in a familiar environment. Ramanathan et al. (2002) posited that the provision of care at home reduced hospital and transportation costs for families that were already encumbered with other financial struggles, as well as reduced isolation from friends and family. Also, Glajchen et al. (2005) noted that the home became the primary setting for the delivery of care to persons with advanced illness.

There was little understanding about the kind of psychological interventions that would enhance HIV/AIDS care (Vollmer & Valadez, 1999). According to D'Cruz (2004), a fragmented understanding of caregivers' experiences, "... hampers the creation of effective policies and programmes, underscoring the need to address the gap" (p.73). In order for caregivers to provide the necessary care, it was imperative that they be provided with adequate support (Olenja, 1999). This would best be accomplished if we gained a better understanding of the impact of the disease on caregivers and therefore

made efforts to provide the kind of support that would ease the impact of HIV on the caregiver (Mushonga, 2001).

Vollmer and Valadez (1999) noted that in Africa, care for sick individuals was usually provided by family members. These authors noted that with the continued increase of the epidemic, there would be an increased need for psychological care and support services for persons living with HIV/AIDS as well as their families. Most of the research in this area focused mainly on the medical aspects of HIV and strategies for fostering behavior change to aid HIV prevention while ignoring the mental health and psychosocial implications of the disease (Freeman, 2004; Vollmer & Valadez, 1999). Thus, there was a need to examine the impact of HIV, not only on those who were infected but, also on the caregivers who were equally affected.

This chapter provides an overview of the current HIV/AIDS crisis and its particular impact on the African continent. The rationale for this study as well as the social significance of the study are discussed. This chapter also includes a brief outline of the research questions that will be investigated, a definition of key terms and limitations that are expected to impact the study.

Social significance of the study

While research demonstrated that providing care for a family member that was ill had psychological and emotional impacts on the caregiver (Daire, 2004; Hanson, 2002), little had been done to investigate the impact of caregiving on female caregivers of family members living with HIV/AIDS in Africa. A few studies had been conducted in the

Central Africa region (Nkowane, 1993), Uganda (Sepulveda et al., 2003), Tanzania (Evans, 2005), and South Africa to examine the experiences of caregivers. However, given the current prevalence of the HIV/AIDS in sub-Sahara Africa, these studies barely scratched the surface in looking at the experiences of caregivers. Hanson (2002) noted that although research identified caregiver burden as a major consequence of caregiving, there was little research to systematically explore the specific variables that significantly contributed to caregiver burden.

Additionally, some research found that home-based care was quickly gaining ground as the new mode of caregiving. Glajchen et al. (2005) noted that the home became the primary setting for the delivery of care to persons with advanced illness. The family members who became caregivers often lacked the skills and training that such a complex role required. Olenja (1999) cited family and community as two strengths that people with chronic or terminal illness relied upon over the years. The author also highlighted some benefits of home-based care (e.g., people who were sick or dying preferred to be at home, they were comforted in their homes by their families and friends, relatives could attend to other chores and take care of the patient as well, and homecare was less expensive than hospitalization).

In order to sustain good quality care for HIV/AIDS patients, the morale of caregivers must be sustained through the provision of support of various kinds that would meet the demands of caregiving (Mushonga, 2001; UNAIDS, 2000). Hendrick (2000) underscored the importance of caregivers for persons living with HIV/AIDS because of the role that they played in helping the patient remain at home longer. In the case of caregivers in Kenya however, the abject poverty and inadequate information were key

sources of stress for caregivers (Nyambedha, et al., 2003). These and other challenges that caregivers were faced with must be addressed in order to optimize the benefits of home-based care for both patients and their caregivers.

In discussing caregivers for persons with dementia, Daire (2001) noted that caregivers were often required to provide emotional support as well as provide assistance with the activities of daily living. For individuals caring for a person with HIV/AIDS, the situation was complicated further by the stigma associated with HIV/AIDS (Brown & Powell-Cope, 1992; Bunting, 2001; Olenja, 1999) and the social isolation or rejection that the caregivers experienced as a result of this stigma (Callery, 2000; Olenja, 1999). Caregivers for persons with HIV/AIDS did not typically enjoy the social support that caregivers for persons with other chronic illnesses did. Poindexter & Linsk (1999) found that because of the stigmatizing nature of HIV illness, caregivers were often reluctant to disclose the HIV-diagnosis and therefore, did not seek any help and support.

Olenja (1999) posited that persons who were HIV positive in Kenya enjoyed little sympathy or support from not only the community, but also from health workers. This was largely because their condition was viewed as self-imposed. As a result, the caregivers bore the burden of providing care on their own, sometimes even becoming targets of social stigmatization as well. The tasks involved in the care of the sick person further burdened the caregiver who might already have been dealing with other issues such as financial constraints, the emotional toll of watching a loved one deteriorate in the face of AIDS, and fear of infection.

There was need to take into account the well being of the caregiver, as this in turn impacted the health status of the person receiving care. Cummings et al., (2002)

described the caregiver's well being as critical to the optimal care of the patient. By assessing caregiver burden, counselors and other mental health professionals could implement measures that minimized caregiver stress and thus defer institutionalization of the patient. Zarit (2004) also urged that family caregivers should be recognized as an essential part of the treatment team. This recognition was important in encouraging caregivers to become more confident about their abilities to care for a loved one. Zarit (2004) emphasized the need to assess burden of care, stress levels, and mental health of caregivers and urged that appropriate steps must be taken to prevent caregivers from becoming overwhelmed.

This study will examine the underlying factors among coping responses in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. The study will also investigate the relationships that exist among coping response factors and caregiver burden in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. This study aims to demonstrate the need to broaden mental health interventions beyond the current scope of providing counseling to persons living with HIV/AIDS and to formulate systemic interventions that focus on the system of the individual with HIV/AIDS (Bor, Miller & Goldman, 1993). Prevailing counseling approaches were geared towards the individual that was infected and had the purpose of containing infection rates rather than improving their mental well being (Vollmer & Valladez, 2000). The present study will focus on a population that is neglected in the research and interventions in Kenya, that is, the caregiver. Information obtained from the study on coping factors that reduce or increase caregiver burden will also be important in program design and implementation for caregivers, as well as interventions.

Statement of the problem

Kenya is one of the countries that are hardest hit by the HIV/AIDS epidemic. However, current research on the impact of HIV/AIDS in Kenya has been inclined towards looking at the economic impact of the disease on those that are infected without giving due consideration to those that are affected as a result of having to informally provide care for infected family members. A report compiled by the Kenya Ministry of Health (2001) discussed the immense impact that HIV/AIDS had on Kenya across many levels. This report urged the provision of quality care for those who were infected with HIV/AIDS. The report also listed the merits of home-based care for individuals infected with HIV/AIDS. Among the benefits discussed were the easing of the burden of care on the medical sector, involvement of family and community, and a holistic approach to medical care that included counseling, nursing care, nutrition, and social support. However, this report only paid scant attention to family caregivers and the intense strain that caregiving placed on them. Any discussion of caregivers was focused on those who took on the care of AIDS orphans but not on those that provided care to infected individuals.

Prevailing approaches focused on the infected, while largely ignoring those that were directly and indirectly affected through the provision of care for their family members who were infected with the disease. As Kenya continued to grapple with the HIV/AIDS epidemic (Olenja, 1999), families were continually called upon to assume the role of caring for family members living with HIV/AIDS, a task that often fell upon the women in the family. The HIV/AIDS epidemic that gripped the African continent placed many people in the role of caregiver for a family member who was infected with the

disease but the impact of the caregiving had yet to be studied in the unique context of Africa.

Although research found that caregivers were impacted emotionally, financially, socially, and mentally by their duties as caregivers (Daire, 2001; Stajduhar, 1998; Tolliver, 2001; Zarit et al., 1980) the health care system had done little to address caregiver needs (Glajchen et al., 2005). The wellbeing of caregivers was crucial to the patient's wellbeing. In discussing caregivers of persons with Alzheimer's disease, Cummings et al. (2002) observed that the physical and emotional health of the caregiver was critical to the optimal care of the patient.

A search of the literature revealed that research on caregivers of persons living with HIV/AIDS has been done in western countries where most of the infected population had access to medical facilities that were not available in Kenya (Campbell, 2004). While research demonstrated that providing care for a family member that was ill had psychological and emotional impacts on the caregiver (Daire, 2004; Davis, 1998; Gordon & Perrone, 2004; Spurlock, 2002), only a few studies investigated the impact of caregiving on female caregivers of family members living with HIV/AIDS in Africa (Brouwer et al., 2000; Campbell, 2004; Lindsey et al., 2003; Mushonga, 2001; Olenja, 1999). The experiences of caregivers must be examined within their cultural, social, and economic context. The difficulties in accessing health care in Africa, and in particular in Kenya created challenges for caregivers that were unique to them. This rendered most of the research findings on caregivers inapplicable to a Kenyan situation and called for an examination of the phenomena of caregiving as it impacted people specifically in Kenya.

In light of all these factors, it is important to gain an understanding of how female caregivers for family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya cope with the added demands of caregiving. What coping responses do they utilize in their efforts to ease the caregiver burden? While there is no single experience for the female Kenyan caregiver owing to the multifaceted nature of Kenyan society, an understanding of how female caregivers in Kenya function on a general level will be crucial in providing more specific guidelines for health service providers.

Rationale

According to Hanson (2002), caregivers represented a population of individuals who were in need of support and psychosocial intervention. Caring for a person with a terminal illness had the potential to be a draining experience (Daire, 2001; Zarit et al, 1980). This experience was even more challenging when the care recipient was a family member living with HIV/AIDS (Powell-Cope & Brown, 1992). While research abounded that looked at the experiences of caregivers of persons with debilitating illness such as strokes (Wyller et al., 2001) and Alzheimer's dementia (Cummings et al., 2005; Daire, 2004; Nunley, 2002; Pratt et al., 1985; Spurlock, 2002) the experiences of caregivers for persons with HIV/AIDS were inherently unique because HIV/AIDS bore a social stigma that none of the other illnesses did (Callery, 2000; Kalichman & Simbayi, 2004; Powell-Cope & Brown, 1992). The already strenuous demands of caregiving were further compounded by the social stigma that continued to be associated with HIV/AIDS (Bunting, 2001; D'Cruz, 2004).

Bunting (2001) further noted that in many places around the world, care for individuals who were infected with HIV/AIDS had been relegated to the women in their lives including wives, mothers, daughters and other female family members. The US Department of Health and Human Services (1997) reported that in the United States, women provided over 80% of all informal caregiving in addition to taking care of their other responsibilities. There is plenty of documentation in the literature of women as primary caregivers (McNeil, 1996; Mushonga, 2001; D'Cruz, 2004).

As Kenya continued to grapple with the HIV/AIDS epidemic that gripped the country, it was natural that caring for family members who were ill was a task that was often taken on by the women in the family. The literature reported that men did not normally take on the role of informal caregivers except in situations where there were no women available to do so (Abel, 1991; Hooyman & Gonyea, 1995; Kaye & Applegate, 1990). As a result, the burden of caregiving was traditionally borne by women. This was considered the natural order of things and had not been researched much even when the modalities of care had clearly changed with HIV/AIDS. It was easy to overlook the impact on the caregiver because caring had traditionally been the domain of women (Songwathana, 2001). This might explain why existing research paid so little attention to female caregivers in Africa.

Joseph & Bhatti (2004) found that in many instances, female caregivers for persons living with HIV/AIDS were themselves already infected with the HIV virus especially when the care recipient was a spouse. Songwathana (2001) conducted a study with female caregivers in Thailand and found that nine of the 15 women were HIV positive. Even then, the expectation was that they would take care of their spouses and

their children, with the result that their own health needs suffered. This was highly likely to be the case in African countries too where women were disproportionately affected by HIV, with 13 women living with HIV for every 10 infected men (UNAIDS/WHO, 2004).

Even though some experiences of caregivers were universal, the cultural, economic, and social context in which Kenyan female caregivers performed their duties of caregiving were unique to them. Consequently, the findings of previous studies conducted in the developed world might not apply in a Kenyan context. It is therefore important to study the specific experiences of Kenyan female caregivers as 'human issues and problems are experienced, understood and interpreted in their social and cultural context' (Keeling, 1993). Navaie-Walliser et al. (2001) cited the need for studies that examined specific groups in order to gain a better understanding of the challenges that faced those groups.

The coping responses that people used were also a function of a combination of factors such as economics, culture, and personality. Although coping responses were well researched in western countries (Carver et al., 1989; Folkman, 1997; Rose & Clark-Alexander, 1999), the responses that research identified as most effective were only effective in the context within which they had been studied. Also, Africans utilized coping responses that were specific adaptations to their cultural, economic, social and physical environment (Evans, 2005). As mental health and medical interventions are implemented, it is important to understand how caregiving impacts the caregivers, the majority of whom are female, in order to tailor the interventions to best serve the needs of the targeted clients. The needs of caregivers must be understood so that these caregivers

can be helped to provide care in a compassionate manner for their loved one (Hanson, 2002).

Identification of coping responses and their relationship to caregiver burden among female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya will contribute to the body of knowledge in this area. This information will also be useful in the design of mental health interventions that caregivers will find to be helpful. Because counseling is a young profession in Kenya and most of Africa, it is imperative that the profession sets out to conduct needs assessments that will serve as a guide to planned interventions. This study is an example of the needs assessment among caregivers, the result of which will provide useful information for the counseling profession in Kenya.

Purpose of study

The aim of this study will be twofold: to contribute to the understanding of caregiver burden and coping responses among women in Kenya who are providing care for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS, and to investigate the relationship between caregiver burden and coping responses. The study aims to investigate coping responses among female caregivers for a family member living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya and derive a model of coping response factors that are significant for this population. The study will aim to answer an important question: what are the main coping factors that female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya utilize? In doing this, it is hoped that the study will significantly inform practice as well as guide the design of interventions that are used with this population and other female caregivers in

this region of the world. According to Glajchen et al. (2005), the timely identification of caregivers who were experiencing distress was an important factor in the development of clinical programs that provided support or treatment. By measuring caregiver burden, this study will help to identify such caregivers who would benefit from clinical interventions. Additionally, gaining an understanding of coping responses that are found to be effective will help to formulate mental health interventions that will promote emotional and psychosocial well being of the caregivers.

In addition, this study will investigate caregiver burden among female caregivers for a family member living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya and examine how caregiver burden is related to the identified coping factors. It is anticipated that this study will help to answer some significant questions by looking at a population that has been thus far neglected in the provision of services as well as helping to shape the growing profession of counseling. The lack of research that focuses on the experiences of this population underscores the need for more information to guide policy as well as program implementation in the efforts to cater to this population.

Research Questions

This study will seek to examine the following research questions and hypotheses:

- Research Question A: What are the underlying factors among coping responses in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya?
 - Hypothesis 1 A factor analysis of the Brief Cope (Carver, 1997) will
 produce five significant coping factors among female caregivers for a
 family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. Research with the

Brief Cope to investigate post traumatic stress disorder with a population of HIV/AIDS patients in South Africa yielded five significant coping factors for the population that was studied (Olley, Zeier, Seedat, & Stein, 2005). This study will seek to extract five coping factors from the current population in keeping with a priori criterion in factor analysis (Hair et al., 1998).

Research Question B: What relationships exist between coping response factors and caregiver burden in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya?

Hypothesis 1 – Coping factors derived from the factor analysis of the Brief
 Cope will be significant predictors of caregiver burden among female
 caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya.

Definition of terms

<u>HIV-</u> Human Immunodeficiency Virus. An incurable virus that is transmitted through the exchange of contaminated bodily fluids, e.g. blood, semen, and breast milk.

AIDS - Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome. The secondary stage of HIV infection that is characterized by a CD4 count (red blood cell) that is lower than 200/cubic mm, or the onset of any illness that is among a specified type of opportunistic infections (CDC, 1992). Without access to anti retroviral drugs, an individual with AIDS can expect to live for a period ranging between 6 months to two years.

<u>PLWHA- Person Living with HIV/AIDS</u>: An individual who has received a positive diagnosis of HIV/AIDS. Because of limited access to medical facilities,

individuals with HIV in Kenya may not know their T-cell count. For purposes of this study, PLWHA will refer to any individual that has been diagnosed with HIV regardless of the stage of illness as measured by a T-cell count.

<u>Caregiver</u>: Refers to an individual who assists in the provision of care for a person that is infected with a debilitating illness. This study will focus on female caregivers who are the primary caregiver for a family member that is infected with HIV/AIDS. The study will specifically investigate informal caregivers who are not medical or social work professionals and do not receive any financial remuneration for their work as caregivers.

Caregiver burden: The literature defines caregiver burden as the physical, psychological or emotional, social, and financial problems that family members experience as a result of caring for a relative who has a disability or impairment (George & Gwyther, 1986; Hanson, 2000). For this study, the construct of caregiver burden will be measured by means of the Caregiver Burden Inventory (Zarit, et al, 1990). It will encompass both what is refereed to in the literature as objective and subjective burden. These distinctions are discussed in the literature review.

Coping: Refers to the actions that people take to avoid or to reduce the strain of life's problems (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). The literature uses the terms strategies, responses, behaviors and factors interchangeably to refer to the ways in which the individuals respond to the demands imposed by caregiving. The responses that participants utilize will be measured by use of the Brief Cope (Carver, 1997). Coolidge et al. (2000) grouped the subscales on the Brief Cope into three groups, emotion focused strategies, problem focused strategies, and dysfunctional strategies.

Demographic variables: Research has indicated that personal characteristics such as age, education level, relationship to the care recipient and income level are directly related to the experience of burden (Folkman et al., 1994; Onishi et al., 2005, Pakenham, Dadds & Terry, 1995; Zarit et al., 1980). For this study, the demographic variables will include age of caregiver, relationship to the care recipient, number of years in school, monthly household income, number of persons living in household, age, and HIV status of caregiver.

Kenya Shillings: During the time of the study, the exchange rate of the shilling to the US dollar was \$1=77 Kenya Shillings. The stipend that was given to participants was 150 Kenya shillings, the equivalent of \$2. The daily wage for casual workers in the areas where the respondents were drawn from would range from Kenya Shillings 70-120.

Limitations

Instrumentation: The instruments used in this study have not been normed for use with African populations. The Brief Cope was normed against a predominantly white sample of hurricane survivors in the United Sates (Carver et al., 1997) while the Zarit Caregiver Burden Interview used a sample of predominantly white caregivers for a person with dementia in the United States (Zarit et al, 1990). As a result, the construct validity of the instruments with the target population in this study is questionable. A review of the literature found no instruments to measure the constructs of interest for this study that had been normed for use with African populations.

<u>Translation:</u> While taking great care to retain the meaning of each translated item, it is likely that in the process of translating the instruments, some of the nuances of the

items may be lost in translation and may not accurately reflect what items are intended to measure. The translation process entails more than linguistic translation but rather, calls for the transferability of concepts across cultures. These concepts may or may not exist in the second language, in this case, Swahili and Kikuyu.

Self-reported measures of burden: As is the case in most cultures, women are socialized to be nurturers and carers. As a result, the task of caring for a family member that is ill may not be seen as anything outside the normal scope of one's duties. Research has found that men report greater levels of caregiver burden, perhaps because caregiving is not naturally a man's task (D'Cruz, 2004; Walker, 2002). In this study, the female caregivers may not report burden as would be expected because of their perception of their role. Additionally, the connotation of burden is negative. To acknowledge burden in caring for a family member who is ill may be seen as complaining and might be socially unacceptable especially when the care recipient is a spouse or a child. As a result, respondents may minimize their experiences or fail to report any perceived burden, thereby skewing the findings of the study.

 Participants accessed through AIDS agencies may already have some support by virtue of their association with these organizations. The use of AIDS agencies to recruit caregivers for the study precludes a bias.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter will present previous research literature that is relevant to the study of female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS. The chapter will focus on the status of HIV/AIDS in Africa with a section that addresses the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Kenya. This chapter will also include a review of literature on caregiver burden, with particular attention to caregivers for persons living with HIV/AIDS. The majority of caregivers for PLWHA in Kenya are women. The chapter will examine the existing literature on female caregivers. Finally, coping responses will be discussed.

HIV/AIDS: The African situation

The United Nations termed AIDS as an extraordinary crisis in both the short term and the long term (UNAIDS 2004). The most current report from the UNAID (2005) estimated that there were more than 40 million people living with HIV/AIDS around the globe in the year 2005. Of these, 17.5 million were women and 2.3 million were children. This report also estimated the number of AIDS deaths in 2005 to have exceeded 3 million. Efforts to contain the epidemic had only been minimally successful, with the infection rates rising faster than the response. It was estimated that in the year 2003, there were over 3 million new infections in sub-Saharan Africa, with the epidemic spreading steadily across Europe and Asia. The UNAIDS Report (2004) further noted that women made up more than half of all persons living with HIV/AIDS in Africa as well as globally. Revised estimates put the numbers of people living with HIV/AIDS at 38

million, in 2003, up from 35 million in 2001 (UNAIDS, 2004). Of these, the overwhelming majority were in the poorest countries.

The worst affected region was sub-Saharan Africa (Patterson, 2005), home to more than 70% of the people living with HIV/AIDS globally (Dixon, McDonald & Roberts, 2002). Onen (2002) reported that no part of the world has experienced the HIV/AIDS crisis on a scale as large as sub-Sahara Africa. UNAIDS (2005) estimated that more than 25 million people were living with HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa in the year 2005, and that there were over 2.4 million deaths due to AIDS in the same region in the year 2005. The HIV/AIDS epidemic was estimated to have impacted all facets of life in African countries, with decreases in life expectancy, reduction of military forces, and loss of productive labor in society (Patterson, 2005). WHO (1999) reported that at the beginning of the 21st century, AIDS was the leading cause of death in Africa and the fourth leading cause of death in the world.

According to the UNAIDS (2005) report, 25.8 million persons were living with AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa in 2005 and 13.5 million of these were women. There was little evidence of a decline in the HIV epidemic with the exception of Uganda, Kenya and Zimbabwe where there appeared to be a decline in prevalence levels. Southern Africa remained the epicenter of the AIDS crisis, with infection rates at an all time high (UNAIDS, 2005). Prevalence levels exceeding 30% had been recorded in some countries such as Namibia, Lesotho and Swaziland. With the exception of Zimbabwe, there was no evidence of a decline in the other Southern African countries. HIV prevalence remained very high in South Africa, Malawi, Mozambique and Zambia. The East African region

saw some gradual declines in prevalence levels. Indeed, urban Kenya was reported to have had the most dramatic prevalence drop among pregnant women.

As a result of the rising prevalence levels, sub-Saharan Africa faced the greatest demographic toll, with the situation continuing to worsen in most countries. The AIDS epidemic in Africa was made worse by the state of health care in sub-Saharan African countries and the limited access to medical care (Amoroso, Davis, & Redfield, 2002). Mushonga (2001) reported that in Zimbabwe for instance, HIV/AIDS had placed such a burden on the health system that patients were routinely discharged early to be cared for by relatives. The HIV/AIDS epidemic in Africa affected every facet of life. All sectors of government had felt the effects of HIV/AIDS in one way or another (UNAIDS 2004). The agricultural sector, education, health, and labor had all been touched by the scourge of HIV/AIDS. With AIDS related deaths on the rise, workforces ranging from teachers, health and medical personnel, agricultural workers, and miners suffered major setbacks as more and more workers succumbed to the virus.

Most households in Africa had felt the effects of HIV/AIDS either directly ort indirectly (Akinsola, 2001). When the individual that was infected with HIV/AIDS was a breadwinner, the family had to find ways to adjust economically. Those that took on the caregiving role often found themselves having to give up some work commitments as a result of the demands of caregiving. A recent study in Tanzania found that the HIV/AIDS epidemic aggravated already existing issues such as chronic poverty, gender inequalities, and social marginalization (Evans, 2005). This study also found that the burden of care for persons living with HIV/AIDS continued to be borne by different generations of women who struggled to provide care in the face of tremendous financial difficulties.

Similar studies conducted among caregivers for HIV/AIDS patients in Zimbabwe (Mushonga, 2001), Togo (Moore & Henry, 2005), Malawi (Lindgren et al., 2005; Uganda (Brouwer et al., 2000) and Kenya (Nyambedha et al., 2003; Olenja, 1999) found that the brunt of the caregiving burden was borne by women.

As the HIV/AIDS epidemics continued to ravage the continent of Africa, the need for solutions that effectively mitigated the burden of care among those that took on that important role of caregiving became even more important. This was particularly important because the traditional strengths of the African extended family that were traditionally expected to serve as a social buffer were no longer in place (Moore & Henry, 2005; Olenja, 1999). Moore & Henry (2005) noted that with the HIV/AIDS epidemic in Africa, social support might be hard to come by even though more caregiving responsibilities were continually heaped upon the family. In this emerging context of restructured families, economic hardship, and HIV stigma, it was important to obtain an understanding of how families coped with the demands of caregiving in the new context of HIV/AIDS

HIV/AIDS in Kenya

In Kenya, the prevalence of HIV/AIDS was as high as in most sub-Saharan African countries (UNAIDS, 2005). Although the United Nations AIDS organization surveillance data identified Kenya as one of three countries in sub-Sahara Africa to have a noted decrease in prevalence rates (UNAIDS, 2005), the statistics were still notably high. Preliminary results from the latest survey by the Kenya Demographic and Health Survey showed that 6.7% of Kenyans were HIV positive (Central Bureau of Statistics

Report, 2004). A report on AIDS in Kenya from the Kenya Ministry of Health estimated that there were about 2.2 million Kenyans living with HIV.

The first case of AIDS was diagnosed in Kenya in 1984 (Rau, Forsythe, & Okeyo, 1996). Since that time, infection rates continued to rise at alarming rates, prompting the Kenya government to declare AIDS as a national crisis in 1993. The onset of AIDS was greeted with cynicism and detachment because at the time, HIV/AIDS was associated with 'gay westerners'. The lack of a prominent gay culture in Kenya led to a sense of security and Kenyans thought they were at little or no risk to contract the virus. Rau et al. (1996) discussed the advent of HIV and the sensationalism surrounding the disease in those early years. Religious leaders in Kenya called for a rejection of what they termed as western solutions such as the use of condoms to stem the spread of HIV. However, as the numbers of new infections continued to rise, the seriousness of the crisis began to become clear and there was a call to action from different parties such as nongovernmental and religious organizations.

The majority of HIV infections in Kenya were transmitted through heterosexual contact (Kenya Ministry of Health, 2001). Other modes of transmission were perinatal transmission, and blood transfusion. The 2001AIDS report from the Ministry of Health estimated that 30-40% of babies born to infected mothers would be infected too. Blood transfusion was not a common transmission mode because almost 100% of blood was screened prior to transfusion. According to the Ministry of Health (2001), more than 75% of AIDS cases in Kenya occurred in adults aged between 20 and 45. Life expectancy in Kenya was also estimated to be only 46, a steep decrease from the earlier projected age of 65 without AIDS.

The Ministry of health estimated that about 75% of AIDS cases in Kenya occurred among adults aged between 20 and 45. This was the most economically productive part of the population and as a result, the deaths of these individuals caused a huge drain on the economy of the country. Regardless of who was infected in a family, the socioeconomic impact of HIV/AIDS was felt by everyone (Kusimba, et al., 1996). When AIDS related illnesses arose within a family, household members were forced to take time off work to nurse the patient. This impacted the family's financial resources as available funds were spent on health care and other illness related expenses.

Although a positive HIV diagnosis had serious mental health implications, counseling efforts continued to be geared primarily towards reducing transmission. HIV counseling focused on behavior change in order to curb the spread of HIV. The emotional effects of receiving a HIV diagnosis were often not addressed. Voluntary Counseling and Testing centers (VCTs) geared their services to the individual that came in to test for HIV/AIDS, and not much attention was directed to the system into which they returned with their positive diagnosis (Vollmer & Valadez, 1999). The counseling component of the counseling and testing interventions was minimized and greater emphasis was given to the need for a HIV test and provision of test results. The long-term psychological needs of persons with HIV//AIDS and their system were often overshadowed by physical and social needs in a setting with limited resources (Kaaya & Smith-Fawzi, 1999). Prevailing interventions focused on the infected while largely ignoring those that were directly and indirectly affected through the provision of care for sick family members. A search of the literature turned up only three articles related to caregiving for HIV/AIDS persons in Kenya (Ngugi & Njenga, 1995; Nyambedha et al., 2003; Olenja, 1999).

Due to the added strain on the health system, hospital capacity in most African countries was limited and many patients were discharged early to the care of family members (Freeman, 2004; Mushonga, 2001). However, the family members were often unprepared for the role that awaited them, and worse still, had little or no understanding of the disease and its progression (Hendrick, 2000). Most counseling interventions were also largely geared towards the individual, with little regard for their system within which they operated. The family of the individual that was infected was often times not included in any interventions.

In the developed world, people with HIV were living longer because of accessibility of medications that mediated the effects of HIV (Prachakul & Grant, 2003). This was not the case for many people with HIV in Kenya, and in fact, in most of Africa. Most people were economically disadvantaged and could not afford the cocktail of drugs necessary to sustain them. Vollmer & Valadez (1999) noted that care for PLWHA had already overwhelmed the health services in many countries in Africa and that access to ARVs and other HIV/AIDS drugs was limited because of the costs involved.

Existing research on the impact of HIV/AIDS in Kenya focused mostly on the economic impact of the disease on the country. A report compiled by the Kenya Ministry of Health (2001) cited the impact of HIV/AIDS on corporate organizations, commercial agriculture, and smallholder farms. This report further suggested strategies for intervention at various levels, citing the need for improved collaboration between health care providers, communities, and families through better training and mobilization of resources. However, in discussing caregivers, the report only mentioned caregivers who

took on the care of children who were orphaned by AIDS but not family caregivers who provide home-based care for loved ones who were infected.

HIV/AIDS bore a social stigma not shared by other illnesses (Bunting, 2001; Freeman, 2004; Kalichman & Simbayi, 2004; Nzioka, 2000). In a study of caregivers conducted in Zimbabwe, Mushonga (2001) noted that caregivers of persons with HIV/AIDS might not involve other family members as caregivers in other situations did for fear of stigmatization and isolation. In Kenya, the prevailing denial by those infected and their families posed a challenge both for control of the infection rates and caring for the infected (Nzioka, 2000; Olenja, 1999).

As governments in African pushed towards home-based care for infected persons, the sheer numbers of those infected were overwhelming to an already overburdened community (Olenja, 1999). This author also noted that the family structure in Kenya had undergone such tremendous transformations over the years such that the extended family and community that would have traditionally been a source of support was no longer available in most cases. Rural-urban migration and other economic realities had transformed the manner in which society operated and the structures of social support that would have been instrumental in times of need were no longer in place. Olenja further found that poverty, inadequate space and insufficient information about HIV/AIDS further complicated the duties of caring for a person living with AIDS in Kenya. Additionally, because PLWHA were viewed as sexually promiscuous, the community extended little sympathy towards them and this spelt isolation for the entire family.

Nzioka (2000) noted that the individual in Kenya did not exist autonomously, but rather as a unit in a collective whole. What happened to an individual had an impact on their family, clan and community. In a discussion of the impact of HIV/IDS within the family in Kenya, Kusimba et al. (1996) stated the following:

Families are likely to be particularly affected by this disease, and their needs must be identified and addressed. Because of the stigma attached to AIDS, some HIV-infected individuals and their families have sought to conceal and/or deny their illness. Denial, anger, blame, guilt and shame are common responses of both individuals and families to HIV. In some cases, family members suffer severe psychological trauma, while in others, the infected engage in self-destructive behaviour.

An extensive study on the role of the elderly as caretakers of AIDS orphans that was conducted in Western Kenya found that the HIV/AIDS epidemic created a reversal of roles, with elderly people taking on the care of their children and their grandchildren. Of 724 children in this study, 243 were orphans as a result of the death of a parent or both parents from AIDS related illnesses. This study identified a new generation of caregivers, persons who were in their twilight years but who now had to take on responsibilities of child rearing in their old age. This study was of interest because some of these caregivers were left with orphans who were infected with HIV. This new role of the elderly as caregivers, often with limited knowledge and access to resources brought new challenges to these individuals, most of whom were women. The findings of this study were also

parallel to studies in other African countries (Brouwer et al., 2000; Moore & Henry, 2005; Mushonga, 2001).

As Kenyan society continued to evolve (Nzioka, 2000; Olenja, 1999), traditional structures that provided social support were no longer readily available. It was important to examine the experiences of caregivers in the emerging context of HIV/AIDS and the unique challenges that came with these experiences. An overview of the concept of caregiver burden as experienced by caregivers of persons with various illnesses will be presented, followed by a review of existing literature on the experiences of caregivers of persons with HIV/AIDS.

Caregiver Burden

Caregiver burden refers to the physical, psychological or emotional, social, and financial problems that family members experience as a result of caring for a relative who has a disability or impairment (George & Gwyther, 1986). Zarit et al. (1980) defined caregiver burden as the extent to which caregivers perceived their emotional or physical health, social life and financial status as being compromised as a result of caring for their relatives. Hanson (2000) referred to caregiver burden as 'the distress or disruption resulting from caring for someone who is ill', and discussed two types of burden, objective and subjective burden. Objective burden refers to the disruptions that are observable such as financial strain, relationships, and employment. Subjective burden refers to the distress that involves the caregiver's feelings, attitudes and emotions (Hanson, 2000).

The construct of caregiver burden received a great deal of attention in the literature. Many studies demonstrated the impact of the caregiving role on the caregiver (Cooper et al., 2006; Zarit et al, 1980). While there was evidence that some caregivers derived immense gratification and personal satisfaction as a result of their involvement in caregiving (Kinney & Stephens, 1989; Motenko, 1989), the majority of caregivers experienced negative consequences of caregiving. Zarit et al., (1998) found stress to be a common consequence of caregiving. Other studies documented the added stress that caregivers experienced as a result of their caregiving roles (Mui, 1992; Rosenvinge et al., 1997; Victoroff et al., 1998).

Caregiving rendered the caregiver more prone towards depression and stress (Rosenvinge et. al., 1998; Victoroff et al., 1998; Zarit et al., 1998). A significant association was demonstrated between the demands of caregiving and health problems (Flaskerud & Tabora, 1998; LeBlanc, London, & Aneshensel, 1997), with caregivers experiencing more psychological and physical symptoms. According to Cummings et al. (2002), caregivers suffered higher rates of depression and physical illness and were prescribed medications at a higher rate than individuals who were not caregivers. A study by Schulz & Beach (1999) on caregiving and mortality found that elderly spousal caregivers who experienced caregiver strain had a mortality risk that was 63% higher than a control group.

Caregiver burden as perceived by diverse groups of people across the globe was the subject of several studies. Navaie-Waliser et al. (2001) conducted a study comparing White, Black and Hispanic caregivers' experiences. These authors found some commonalities across groups, e.g. long-term caregivers were more likely to report unmet

needs than their counterparts who had only been providing care for a short period of time, and that those who reported difficulty with caregiving were more likely to be providing more involved care. However, there were significant differences in care workload, difficulty with care provision, and having unmet needs across groups. Mui (1992) also found that African –American female caregivers experienced less caregiver burden than white female caregivers, and that they experienced fewer negative health consequences than Hispanic caregivers. All groups in this study were equally at risk for emotional strain but the African American female caregivers appeared to have better adaptive skills.

The experience of caregiver burden among caregivers in African countries was often exacerbated by financial constraints. Mushonga (2001) discussed this vicious cycle of expenses and burden, with each causing the other, and the cycle being ongoing. Increased caregiver burden was a drain on the financial resources that were available to the family while at the same time, the continued drain of these resources increased the perception of burden. A study of palliative care that was funded by the World Health Organization in several African nations (Ethiopia, Botswana, Tanzania and Uganda, and Zimbabwe) found that most patients with terminal illness (cancer or HIV/AIDS) and their families had common problems. The most significant of these were noted as scarcity of resources, financial constraints, and lack of social support (Sepulveda et al., 2003). This study also found that in most cases, the caregivers were mostly family members and relatives, but they did not possess adequate knowledge and skills to perform the caregiving role.

A qualitative study of 11 female caregivers in Canada (Sawatzky & Fowler-Kerry, 2003) found that caregiving had short term and long term effects on the caregiver that included financial constraints and health concerns. In many cases, the patient was unable to work, and sometimes the caregiver had to give up their own employment in order to look after the patient. This was in addition to the added medical expenses incurred from the illness. Caregivers suffered from ill health and the demands of caregiving often compounded the health concerns of the caregiver. Navaie-Waliser et al. (2001) called for studies that specifically examined subgroups of caregivers in order to understand the unique challenges that faced each group of caregivers. The next section looks specifically at the experiences of caregivers of persons living with HIV/AIDS as documented in the literature.

Caregivers of PLWHA

HIV/AIDS infection rates were on the increase globally (CDC, 2004). The impact of HIV/AIDS was a subject that received a great deal of attention with much research being done to investigate how HIV/AIDS impacted the infected persons (Songwathana, 2001). However, little had been done to investigate the impact of HIV on persons who were caregivers of persons living with HIV (PLWHA). Most of the research focused on the medical aspects of HIV/AIDS while paying little attention to the mental health and psychosocial implications of the disease (Freeman, 2004). There was a need to look at the impact of HIV/AIDS not only on those who were infected, but also those who were affected by the disease. Hanson (2000) noted that as the HIV/AIDS epidemic continued to increase, the number of persons directly and indirectly affected also continued to rise because every infected individual represented a family system and social network.

Prachakul & Grant (2003) conducted a review and analysis of published empirical studies that examined the physical and psychosocial outcomes in caregivers of persons living with HIV/AIDS. This analysis only found 14 studies, most of which had male caregivers. This was chiefly because HIV/AIDS in the United States was initially associated with the gay community and most AIDS patients were in the care of their partners. This was much unlike the situation in Kenya where transmission was chiefly through heterosexual contact and where caregivers were chiefly female.

Existing literature on caregivers helped to shed light on the experiences of caregivers for persons suffering from various illnesses. Previous studies looked at caregivers for persons with dementia (Daire, 2004; Daire, 2001; Nunley, 2000; Onishi et al, 2005), Alzheimer's (Cummings et al., 2002; Martin-Cook et al., 2000), and strokes (Wyller et al., 2001). While information like this was helpful, the provision of care for a person infected with HIV/AIDS was complicated and differed from that of other medical conditions (Hendrick, 2000; Lesar & Maldonado, 1997). According to Hendrick (2000), providing care for persons living with HIV/AIDS was made more stressful by the uncontrollable nature of the symptoms, the disfiguring effects of the disease, anticipated loss and grief, as well as inadequate preparation for the role of caregiver. Persons with HIV/AIDS also tended to be younger than persons typically afflicted with illnesses such as Alzheimer's or strokes (Hendrick, 2000) and dealing with the loss of a loved one when they are at the prime of their life is more difficult to deal with. Findings from studies conducted with other populations were not necessarily applicable for caregivers of persons living with HIV/AIDS for several reasons.

Caregivers for a family member living with HIV/AIDS faced unique challenges due to the complicated nature of the illness (Stajduhar, 1998). The mode of transmission of HIV, the contagious nature of the virus, and the initial association of HIV/AIDS with marginalized groups served to impart a social stigma across the globe (Cargan & Ballantine, 2000; Powell-Cope & Brown, 1992) that extended to the caregivers. Bunting (2001) noted that AIDS related stigma often added to the work and grief of the caregiver and served to increase anxiety and stress by isolating the caregiver and the recipient from sources of support.

The manner of tasks that one performed as a caregiver for a person living with HIV/AIDS varied from helping with cooking, cleaning, bathing and dressing the patient, changing soiled linen, feeding, getting them in and out of bed, and administering medication (Mushonga, 2001) The degree to which one performed the above tasks depended upon the severity of the patient's illness. Caregivers for patients with lower functioning levels on activities of daily living (e.g. cooking, cleaning) reported higher levels of caregiver burden (Cooper et al., 2006; Wight, 2000). A study of 15 female caregivers in Malawi (Chimwaza & Watkins, 2004) found that the tasks of caregivers included the following:

preparing food and traditional medicines for the patient, feeding the patients and medicine, heating water and bathing the patient, cleaning sores, massaging and exercising (the patients') limbs, carrying patients who were immobile to the pit latrine or to sit on the sun, and washing soiled linen in a stream or in a bucket of water.

In most cases, the patients were too sick to be left alone and the caregivers had to be present to monitor them.

For caregivers of a person living with HIV/AIDS, social stigma increased perceptions of burden among caregivers (Powell-Cope & Brown, 1992). These authors referred to the stigma experienced by caregivers as a result of their association with the infected individual as guilt by association. In a qualitative study conducted among caregivers for a family member living with HIV/AIDS in Mumbai, India, (D'Cruz, 2004), participants reported experiencing social isolation as well as being stigmatized by their extended families and communities. This was important especially given that African societies were communal by nature and there would be a presumption that caregivers could expect and receive help from the extended family and their community. Indeed, the caregivers were reported to have become secondary targets of stigma because of their association with the infected person (Powell-Cope & Brown, 1992).

Olenja (1999) carried out a study with HIV patients in Kenya and found that persons living with HIV/AIDS and their caregivers experienced a sense of isolation and stigmatization from their larger community. When there was a deficit in social knowledge about HIV/AIDS, there was a higher likelihood that person with HIV/AIDS and those associated with them would experience social isolation and stigma. This had significant implications for coping strategies particularly because social support was identified in literature as a key coping strategy among caregivers (D'Cruz, 2004).

The unpredictability of disease progression was reported in previous research as a factor that further aggravated caregiver burden (Brown & Powell-Cope, 1991; Rutman, 1996; Stajduhar, 1998). In a qualitative study with female caregivers, Rutman (1996)

found that caregivers were frustrated by the unpredictability of caregiving. The ever changing physical and medical condition of the care recipient served to diminish the value of the work these caregivers performed, further making them uncertain about how to best provide care. In the case of HIV/AIDS caregivers, this was true especially because the symptoms and opportunistic infections of HIV/AIDS manifested in various ways, thereby requiring intensive and prolonged care (Bunting, 2001). Participants in a study of family caregivers (Brown & Powell-Cope, 1991) expressed uncertainty with 'roller-coaster' of HIV/AIDS and the instability it brought about.

Caregivers for a family member living with HIV/AIDS also had to deal with the fear of contracting the virus (Nkowane, 1993). This was true particularly where knowledge about HIV/AIDS and the modes of transmission was limited (Hansen et al., 1998). Even when caregivers had knowledge about transmission and were willing to take on the caregiving role, they often lacked the necessary resources such as gloves to protect themselves from infection during routine caregiving (Nkowane, 1994). Hansen et al (1998) found that caregivers did not have adequate knowledge about how to handle soiled clothes and they clearly needed training on how to care for a person with HIV/AIDS.

Hanson (2002) also noted that the demands of caregiving were often superimposed on the caregiver's own issues of emotional adjustment to the diagnosis for a loved one. Caregivers experienced a range of emotions as a result of watching a family member go through the different phases of illness. In a study of caregivers for patients with Alzheimer's, Onishi et al (2005) found that more than 25% of the caregivers interviewed experienced a strong sense of loss due to the deterioration of cognitive

function of the care recipient. This loss was similarly experienced by caregivers for a family member with AIDS. Indeed, because most HIV/AIDS patients were younger in age compared to the average Alzheimer's patient, the progression of disease was even harder to deal with (Hendrick, 2000).

An analysis of studies done with caregivers of persons living with HIV/AIDS in the United States identified some gaps in the literature in this area. Prachakul & Grant (2003) found a selection bias of participants in the reviewed studies with an over-representation of gay male caregivers. This analysis also identified a gap in the literature in examining the relation of caregiver burden to other variables related to caregiving, e.g. age, ethnicity, and duration of care. The authors called for more research in this area that would specifically examine caregiving outcomes in ethnic minority populations.

Research showed that home-based care for PLWHA was optimal because the infected person was able to remain in the environment that they were familiar with (Campbell, 2001). Most people preferred to be cared for at home (WHO, 2002), and the quality of life was improved by effective home based care. It was imperative that caregivers who provided home-based care to their loved ones with HIV/AIDS be provided with adequate support in order for them to provide the necessary care. This could best be accomplished if we gain a better understanding of the impact of the disease on caregivers and therefore make efforts to provide the kind of support that would ease the impact of HIV on the caregiver.

Female Caregivers

A review of studies conducted to investigate caregiver burden found that caregiving was often a task that fell to women (Bunting, 2001; D'Cruz, 2004; Linsk & Poindexter, 2000; Martire et al., 1997; Rutman, 1996). In a study of burden among caregivers for patients with dementia in Japan, 84% of the caregivers were female (Onishi et al., 2005). Studies on caregivers in Africa also found that the majority of caregivers were women (Chimwaza & Watkins, 2004; MacNeil, 1996).

Onishi et al. (2005) found that women caregivers were significantly more likely to provide more intensive and complex care, have difficulty with care provision and balancing caregiving with other family and employment responsibilities, suffer from poorer emotional health secondary to caregiving, and cope with caregiving responsibilities by engaging in increased religious activities. Gallicchio et al (2002) conducted an investigation into gender differences in burden and depression among informal caregivers of demented elders. Their study consisted of 327 informal caregivers, majority of whom were female. These authors found that a significantly higher percentage of women caregivers had a higher burden score than the male caregivers. The authors hypothesized that it was likely that women caregivers spent more time and effort in caregiving than their male counterparts in the study as was been the case in previous studies.

In addition to the fact that women in Africa were particularly vulnerable to contracting HIV/AIDS, the epidemic impacted them in many other ways. Women's traditional role of caregiver meant that the primary responsibility of looking after AIDS patients and orphans fell to them (MacNeil, 1997). With the increased strain on the health

infrastructure, most AIDS care took place in the home, forcing women to take on additional duties of the caregiving role. Women therefore bore the brunt of HIV/AIDS caregiving (Bharat & Aggleton, 1999; D'Cruz, 2004). D'cruz (2004) noted that across the globe, women were oriented towards caregiving, and nurturing, a natural extension of their role as mothers. Songwathana (2001) observed that the role of women as family caregivers seemed to be both psychologically and socially constructed. Olenja (1999) observed that women were the most economically disadvantaged and yet they had to take on the burden of care for persons with AIDS. In Kenya, when the burden of care was relegated to the family, it was ultimately the women who carried the load and struggled to provide care with limited resources, information and skills. The term caregiver therefore often referred to women, with men becoming caregivers only when there were no women available to take on that role (Abel, 1991; Hooyman & Gonyea, 1995; Kaye & Applegate, 1990).

The UNAIDS Report (2004) noted that HIV had a particularly great impact on women and girls who bore the burden of care. The demands associated with caring for a family member that had HIV/AIDS were often in addition to their ordinary duties in the home. When a spouse was ill, often times the woman was also infected. In spite of this, she still had to continue providing care for her ailing spouse and care for the children, in addition to the normal household chores. Her own needs and health considerations came last (Campbell, 1999; D'Cruz, 2004). Bharat & Aggleton (1999) found that when wives were infected with the virus, they often neglected their own needs in order to first meet those of their children and their husbands.

In a study of rural women with HIV/AIDS, Walker (2002) concluded that the socialization of women into gender roles might impel women with HIV/AIDS to ignore their own health needs in order to meet the needs of others. Linsk & Poindexter (2000) also found that the women in their study were not concerned about their own health but rather were intensely focused on the health and well being of the person they were providing care for. Even when the women caregivers had health problems as was often the case, they only sought treatment or care for themselves as a last resort (Walker, 2002). Because of their primary role as caregivers and not as care recipients, when women were in the role of receiving care, they perceived themselves as a burden to their caregivers. Another study of HIV positive female caregivers by Hackl, Somlai, Kelly, & Kalichman (1997) found that the women were concerned primarily about AIDS related stigma, their children, social support, death and dying, and obtaining information about HIV. They faced isolation and stigmatization and expressed a need for social support.

Research conducted in Arusha, Tanzania with caregivers indicated that the burden of care in HIV/AIDS affected different generations of women (Godwin, 1998; Evans, 2005). In almost all cases where there was an infected child, it was almost always the case that one parent, often the mother was also infected. Mothers therefore provided care for their ill children in addition to meeting their developmental needs, as well as taking care of their own medical needs. Many women involved in caregiving were doubly burdened in that they were HIV-positive themselves. Women often had to take care of their children who were infected, and take on grandchildren who were orphaned by the deaths of their parents. These orphans might also be infected, and the tasks of providing care are continued with these children. Women also provided care for their spouses who

were infected. In such cases where both husband and wife were infected, it was often the wife who took on caregiving, often at the expense of her own health. In a study with HIV infected women who were also caregivers, Hackl et al. (1997) found that all the women exhibited signs of clinical depression.

It was little wonder therefore, that the phenomenon of women as caregivers for a family member that was living with HIV/AIDS in Africa had received such little attention in the literature perhaps because this was viewed as an extension of the duties that women performed. Indeed, caregiving depended on the work of women, who provided an unpaid (D'Cruz, 2004) and often unacknowledged service that complemented, and in many places, supplemented formal health care. Wight et al (1998) noted that the role of women in providing informal care tended to be minimized in discussions about how to minimize health care costs. While the burden of care was eased for the medical sector, the load was shifted to women.

In Kenya, this was especially observable in the trend towards home-based care with little consideration for who took on the care once it was off the shoulders of health institutions (Olenja, 1999). Linsk & Poindexter (2000) described this very aptly in their study of older minority caregivers for family members with HIV/AIDS. These authors discussed what they termed as 'the tower of strength 'image that was often associated with caregivers of persons living with HIV/AIDS, and that was often at an unacknowledged cost to the caregivers. The next section will look at the experiences of caregivers in Kenya as documented caregivers in the literature.

Caregivers in Kenya

In reviewing the literature on caregivers, it is important to note that little had been written about caregivers in Africa. Existing literature that derived from studies in cultural contexts other than African can only be used tentatively when speaking about caregivers in Kenya. D'Cruz (2004) argued that cultural factors such as race, age, gender, and type of illness all play an important role on the experience of caregiver burden. Folkman et al. (1994) reported that were significant differences in the experience of caregiver burden based on ethnicity. There were certain factors that further compound the caregiving role for persons living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. The health care infrastructure in both urban and rural Africa was often insufficient to meet the demands of persons infected with HIV/AIDS (Amoroso et al., 2002). Additionally, the high cost of HIV/AIDS medication limited accessibility.

Although there existed a great deal of research on caregivers, much of the literature in this area treated caregivers as one homogenous group (Navaie-Waliser et. al., 2001). As a result, much of the information on caregivers was based on research that was not equally representative of minority groups (Dilworth-Anderson, Williams, & Cooper, 1999). Studies that examined differences among ethnic groups found that significant differences between ethnic minority caregivers and White caregivers (Knight, Merril, McCallum & Fox, 2000; Miller & Snigdha, 1999). While the findings of these studies were key to understanding the plight of caregivers in the West, they could not be applied in the Kenyan context. Even those studies that did comparative analysis of informal

caregivers from different ethnic groups were found to have serious limitations that greatly hampered generalization (Navaie-Waliser et. al., 2001).

Caregivers for persons living with HIV/AIDS in Africa faced challenges that are unique to them. This was the result of a combination of factors. The lack of health care facilities and access to medication (Campbell, 2004) made the provision of care even more complex. Further, the majority of the population that provided home-based care for family members with HIV/AIDS did so with limited understanding of the disease and little support from the health care system (Olenja, 1999).

In a study carried out in Kiambu District in Kenya to assess community attitudes towards home based care for PLWHA, Olenja (1999) found that in spite of the government's efforts to push towards more home based care, there was reluctance on the part of the community to take on this role. This was chiefly due to as inadequacy of information about HIV/AIDS and how to care for infected persons, high stigma levels, and financial constraints that the families faced. This study also found that certain key elements such as counseling, social support, and care that were crucial to optimal home based care were lacking. The author concluded that there was a gap between the noble concept of home based care and the reality that was prevailing in Kenya.

Olenja (1999) also found that even when the families were very willing to take on the care, there were concerns that were the result of limited resources and means. Some viewed persons with AIDS as a financial burden to them and preferred that medical and other care be provided at a hospital rather than in the home. Some participants in this study reported that frequent illness episodes forced the family to incur huge medical expenses every time they had to take the person with AIDS to hospital. Caregivers

discussed their feelings of a moral obligation to provide care for a person who was dying even though they might prefer to keep them in hospital. Poverty was identified as a significant issue in the provision of care. There were concerns about physical space in the house to accommodate the sick person, and the author noted that the burden of home care was a trying experience for caregivers who were already battling with poverty.

An interesting observation that emerged in Olenja's study (1999) was that the persons that were ill appeared to expect more from their families than could be provided. They failed to understand that their becoming ill had not changed the economic state of their family for the better. Persons with AIDS had nutrition needs that exceeded family budgets, yet they demanded to have them. This could only serve to increase the frustration experienced by the caregivers, thereby exacerbating burden.

The role of stigma in exacerbating caregiver burden was well documented in the literature (Bunting, 2001; D'Cruz, 2005; Mushonga, 2001; Powell-Cope & Brown, 1992). In Kenya, there was still much shame and secrecy surrounding a diagnosis of HIV (Nzioka, 2000). The mode of transmission in Kenya was chiefly heterosexual sex and to contract the virus was taken as a sign of promiscuity or sexual irresponsibility (Olenja, 1999). The infected individual often tried to keep their condition secret and only disclosed to family members when the disease advanced to a symptomatic level. Even then, the family might try to hide and caregivers tried to give care in secrecy because they feared the consequences of disclosing. This need for secrecy heightened caregiver burden (Mushonga, 2001). Eventually, the family secret may be 'outed' when the patient began to show the tell-tale signs such as the massive loss of body weight and a darkening of the skin that was common among people with AIDS in black Africa (Mushonga, 2001).

Olenja (1999) also noted that the family structure in Kenya had undergone a great deal of transformation thereby eroding the sense of support from community and family that was a feature of African societies in the past. This study also found that the women in the family often felt stuck with the responsibility of care giving, providing care for a sick relative not out of their own volition but out of a sense of obligation. The burden of care was often assumed by single family members, contrary to common notions that community helped. With Kenyan societies being chiefly paternalistic (Nyambedha, 2003), women assumed the role of caregiving from an already disadvantaged position of being the social underlings compared to men. The interaction of social disempowerment and the challenges of providing care with limited resources was a subject that called for research. This next section looks at literature on female caregivers.

Coping responses

Coping refers to the actions that people take to avoid or to reduce the strain of life's problems (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Monat &Lazarus (1991) discussed the coping behaviors that individuals adapt as constantly changing as a result of changes within their specific context. The literature discussed different types of coping behaviors or responses. According to Lazarus & Folkman's coping model (1984), problem oriented coping responses attempt to manage the problematic situation while emotion-focused coping behaviors attempt to handle the emotions that the crisis evokes. Lazarus & Folkman (1984) defined problem focused coping as including strategies such as gathering information, decision-making, planning, and resolving conflicts that created distress.

According to Lazarus & Folkman's theory of psychological stress and coping, problem-

focused coping engages the caregiver in weighing costs and benefits, generating solutions, and acting on these solutions. This is also sometimes referred to as confrontive coping. Emotion-focused coping is avoidance of the problem and it may be used to maintain hope and optimism and/or to deny the facts and what these facts may imply.

Some studies that examined caregiver burden found an association between burden and factors such as social support and coping strategies used by the caregiver (Parks & Pilisuk, 1991; Pratt et al., 1985). The ability of a caregiver or a patient to integrate into a social network and obtain resources from this network was significant in improving the health of the individual. Several studies found a relationship between social support as a coping resource and caregiver well-being (Knight et al., 2000; Pakenham, 2001). McCausaland & Pakenham (2003) carried out a study to investigate the benefits of caring for a person with HIV/AIDS among 64 HIV/AIDS caregivers and 46 HIV positive care recipients in Australia. This study found that higher levels of social support were related to less depression and global distress among both caregivers and the care recipients. Self-blame and wishful thinking were significantly related to global distress.

While coping responses had been researched through the world, (Joseph & Bhatti, 2004; McCausland & Pakenheim, 2003; Pearce, 2005), the responses that research identified as most effective were effective in the context within which they were studied. Further, the coping responses that people used were a function of a combination of factors such as economics, culture, and personality. Folkman & Lazarus (1984) stressed that coping processes needed to be examined within the context of the stressful situation. They noted that stress was a relationship between the person and their environment as

appraised by the individual. This was an important consideration in discussing coping factors because coping factors must be seen in light of different environmental contexts. Differences in coping were associated with situational demands and constraints. This underscored the need for research that would look at specific populations within their unique environment.

Coping strategies were important predictors of caregiver well-being. A research study carried out with 126 caregivers of people with Alzheimer's disease investigated the relationship between coping strategies and caregiver anxiety (Cooper et al., 2006).

Participants in this study were administered the Brief Cope and the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. This study found that dysfunctional coping strategies and depression appeared to be important factors in predicting caregiver anxiety. The authors suggested that it would be helpful to address coping strategies in order to manage caregiver anxiety, an element that contributes to caregiver burden.

Research on coping strategies reported mixed findings about which coping strategies were associated with greater caregiver burden. The literature was more inclined towards approach coping as a more effective strategy in easing caregiver burden, and avoidance coping being related to higher levels of anxiety (Cooper et al., 2006) and depressive symptoms (Aranda et al., 2001). Brouwer et al. (2000) found that caregivers who did not accept their child's HIV status were not motivated to comply with advice given by the doctor or the counselor and were more unlikely to recognize the need for care.

Rose & Clark-Alexander (1999) examined coping styles and quality of life among nonparental caregivers for children with HIV/AIDS. Even though their sample size was

considerably small, (n=25) their findings were consistent with previous research that found most caregivers to use problem-focused coping strategies. The most common types of coping methods used were prayer and trying to maintain some control over the situation. Participants who utilized emotion focused coping strategies were more likely to experience depression and use alcohol and experienced lower quality of life than their counterparts who used problem focused coping strategies. This study also found that social support significantly impacted quality of life for the caregivers.

Coping responses among caregivers in western countries included accessing support from professionals such as counselors, as well as sharing information and obtaining support from family and friends (Sawatzky & Fowler-Kerry, 2003; Shields, et al., 1995; Stajduhar, 1998). Indeed, social support was identified in many studies of caregivers as a key coping resource (Folkman et al., 1994). In a grounded theory study of women caregivers (Bunting, 2001), many participants expressed a need for support from other family members, a support group or health professionals. For them, having this need met would serve as a key coping strategy in their role of caregiver. According to Stajduhar (1998), when caregivers were able to seek support, they were better able to implement caregiving strategies that helped them feel a sense of pride and find meaning in what they did as caregivers. However, accessing social support was often a complicated task for caregivers of a family member living with HIV/AIDS. This was often because seeking social support led to disclosure of what many preferred to keep as a closely guarded family secret (Powell-Cope & Brown, 1992). In Kenya, the social stigma that surrounded HIV/AIDS acted as a barrier to seeking social support (Nzioka, 2000).

A study conducted with HIV/AIDS patients with Hemophilia found that the most common types of coping responses used by the participants were maintaining personal and social relations, obtaining information about the disease and its management, and planning for the future (Stewart, Hart & Mann, 1995). Respondents considered information about support groups to be very important. An earlier study conducted with caregivers of children infected with HIV (Mellins & Ehrhardt, 1994) found that the most frequently reported coping strategies included acceptance, distraction, self-reliance, and religion

Another key coping factor that research on caregivers identified was religiosity (Folkman et al., 1994; Tolliver, 2001). Picot (1995) found that religion was considered the most helpful form of support among caregivers of persons with dementia. In their study of White, Black and Hispanic caregivers, (Navaie-Waliser et. al., 2001) found that Black caregivers were more likely to experience increased religiosity after they took on the role of caregivers. In a study of Black family caregivers of a family member with dementia, Segall & Wykle (1988) found that more than 60% of the respondents rated prayer, faith in God and religion as their number one coping strategy. Religiosity was therefore found to be a potential coping strategy that Blacks employed to help them deal with the demands of care provision. Mellins & Ehrhardt, (1994) also found that religion was the most useful coping strategy among 31 families of children infected with HIV/AIDS.

Davis (1998) noted that in spite of a plethora of research that focused on HIV/AIDS and treatment interventions, there existed little that was related to the psychosocial needs of caregivers and their coping behaviors. This author further identified a need for studies

validating instruments in distinct caregiver group subsets in order to assist in the provision of optimum functioning and health. Stajduhar (1998) decried the lack of adequate research on coping responses among caregivers of a person living with HIV/AIDS and called for more research that would target caregivers' needs and their perceptions of what kinds of support would be helpful for them.

Caregivers for PLWHA in Kenya provided care in the absence of the coping resources that caregivers in western countries had available to them. Olenja (1999) noted that caregivers in Kenya lacked training about how to care for AIDS patients and did not have counseling and social support, both important prerequisites for home-based care. The economic situation also factored into the provision of care because a diagnosis of HIV for a family member in Africa had serious financial implications (Mushonga, 2001). If the infected family member was a sole breadwinner, the family had to find alternative sources of income. The duties of caregiving also greatly interfered with work and income generating activities for the rest of the family, as time was taken up in caring for the infected person.

Folkman (1997) suggested a revision of the coping model to include positive psychological states of the caregivers. This would be of particular interest to the current study, particularly in light of discussions of resiliency in African women faced with tremendous adversity (Evans, 2005) In a study with male caregivers of a partner with AIDS, Folkman (1997) identified four types of coping processes that were associated with positive psychological states during caregiving and bereavement: positive reappraisal, goal-directed problem-focused coping, spiritual beliefs and practices, and the infusion of ordinary events with meaning. The author also suggested that all the above

coping processes had the common theme of searching for and finding positive meaning and called for more research into personal characteristics that might predispose people to positive psychological states in the coping process.

There was increased interest in the role of positive psychological and emotional states in the coping literature (Folkman, 1997; Hooker et al., 1992). Scheier et al. (1989) found that dispositional optimism was related to coping in persons recovering from coronary bypass surgery. Hooker also suggested that personal characteristics such as optimism may help to protect the caregiver from some of the negative consequences of caregiving. In a study of spousal caregivers for a patient with Alzheimer's, Hooker et al. (1992) found that optimism was directly related to depression and psychological wellbeing of the caregivers.

Evans (2005) conducted an ethnographic study with children and families that were affected by HIV/AIDS in Tanzania. This author discussed the implications of a social resiliency perspective on the development of interventions to work with the population that was affected by HIV/AIDS. In examining children who had been impacted by HIV/AIDS, Evans (2005) found that these children showed considerable resiliency in negotiating vulnerability and coping with the impacts of the HIV/AIDS epidemic. Interviews with parents, caregivers and children with HIV/AIDS supported the approach of identifying people's coping strategies and agency to build upon in designing and implementing interventions. This author called for recognition of the coping strategies that people already utilized, citing these as a crucial framework for the design and implementation of interventions.

In another study conducted among 75 female caregivers who occupied multiple roles to investigate feelings of role mastery as predictors of self esteem, Martire et al. (1997) reported that a striking finding of the study was how caregiving was potentially beneficial to the caregivers. This study found that caregiving offered opportunities for women to experience a feeling of adequacy. Women who perceived that they had mastered the challenges of caregiving were likely to experience more satisfying relationships with family members. These findings supported the notion that feeling effective as a caregiver may improve the caregiver's mental health.

Summary of the literature

This review presented an overview of the relevant literature in the areas of HIV/AIDS in Africa and Kenya in particular, caregivers for PLWHA, caregiver burden, and coping strategies. Research on the experiences of caregivers demonstrated adverse effects of caregiving on the caregiver's emotional, physical and social wellbeing (Folkman et al., 1994; Powell-Cope & Brown, 1992; Zarit et. al., 1990). A review of the literature demonstrated that there were mixed findings about the characteristics that led to reduced or increased caregiver burden among caregivers for a family member that was living with chronic or terminal illness. This was even more so for caregivers for a family member that was living with HIV/AIDS because of many social connotations of HIV/AIDS and related stigma. The review also indicated a wide gap in knowledge about the experiences of family caregivers in Kenya, with particular reference to those who were caring for an individual that has AIDS.

Although there was a consensus in the literature that caring for a family member that was unwell placed significant burden on the caregiver, there were mixed findings about how some significant factors impacted the experience of caregiver burden.

Different studies identified varying demographic characteristics to be predictors of burden (Folkman et al., 1994; Mushonga, 2001; Onishi et al., 2005; Pakenham et al., 1995; Powell-Brown & Cope, 1992). The literature on this was found to be inconclusive and called for studies that addressed specific populations. There was also limited understanding of the coping responses that caregivers for a family member that was living with HIV/AIDS found to be effective in mediating caregiver burden. Studies conducted in this area had been conducted in the United States, Europe and Canada.

Existing research in this area pointed to the need for studies that would help to foster greater understanding of the experiences of caregivers and the challenges that caregivers from different populations were faced with (Navaie-Waliser et. al., 2001). Studies also called for research that facilitated the development of culturally sensitive programs and policies that would help meet the ever-changing needs of caregivers in their diverse settings.

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

This study was an exploration of caregiver burden and coping responses among female caregivers for a family member living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. The study set out to identify significant coping response factors in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. The study also sought to investigate the relationships that existed between coping response factors and caregiver burden in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya.

The analyses conducted investigated coping response factors among the population of the study as measured by the Brief Cope (Carver, 1997) and the level of perceived caregiver burden as measured by the Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory (Zarit et al., 1980). This chapter describes the procedures that were used to identify participants and to collect data. The chapter also contains a description of the instruments that were used in the study, discusses the specific hypotheses that were investigated, describes the variables for each hypothesis, and the methods of data analysis that were used for each hypothesis.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

This study investigated two research questions in order to identify coping response factors among female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya as well as examine the relationship between coping factors and perceived caregiver burden.

Research Question A and Hypothesis

What are the underlying factors among coping responses in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya?

Hypothesis 1: A factor analysis of the Brief Cope (Carver, 1997) will produce five significant coping factors among female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya.

An exploratory factor analysis was undertaken to identify coping factors from the Brief Cope for the population of the study. A principal component analysis with varimax rotation was run on the 14 scales of the Brief Cope to identify key factors that loaded at an Eigenvalue of 1.

Research Question B and Hypothesis

What relationships exist between coping response factors and caregiver burden in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya?

Hypothesis 1: Coping factors derived from the factor analysis of the Brief Cope will be significant predictors of caregiver burden among female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya.

A multiple regression was run to determine whether caregiver burden could be predicted based on the coping responses that an individual uses. The independent variables were the coping response factors identified in the investigation of hypothesis 1 and the dependent variable was perceived caregiver burden as measured by the Caregiver Burden Inventory (Zarit et al., 1990).

Population

The target population for this study consisted of female caregivers for a family member that was living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. It was expected that caregivers would vary in age, relationship to the care recipient, living arrangements and economic status.

Criteria for inclusion in the study were:

- The individual identified as the primary caregiver for a family member that
 was living with HIV/AIDS. The caregiver lived with the care recipient under
 the same roof or resided in close proximity to the care recipient. The caregiver
 had personal contact with the care recipient.
- 2. The caregiver was an informal caregiver. This meant that the caregiver did not receive remuneration for the work they did as a caregiver and did not provide care as a means to earn a living.
- 3. The caregiver was 18 years or older. One exception was made with a caregiver who was 14 years old but met all the other criteria. Parental consent was obtained from this participant's mother who was the care recipient.

Participants

Participants for this study were identified by means of a non-random purposive sampling procedure. This design was necessary because of the anticipated difficulties in reaching this population. The primary sampling unit consisted of AIDS agencies and medical care facilities in three of Kenya's eight provinces, namely, Nairobi Province, Central Province, and the Rift Valley Province. The researcher contacted these agencies and sought permission to access the population that was served by the respective agency.

In Nairobi province, three agencies were contacted, namely, Mbagathi District Hospital HIV Clinic, Kenya Network of Women with AIDS (KENWA), and Women Fighting AIDS in Kenya (WOFAK). Upon receiving permission from the agencies, the researcher identified an individual who would assist in distributing the packets and reading the invitational letters to caregivers who were not literate. The researcher obtained permission from KENWA and the Korogocho Office of WOFAK. There was no response from Mbagathi District Hospital HIV Clinic. In the Rift Valley and Central Provinces, contact was made through extension field officers who were affiliated with local hospitals. In Rift Valley, packets were also distributed at a meeting of caregivers with the permission of the area chief.

The sample in this study consisted of 116 female caregivers who were providing care for a family member that was living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. Participants were distributed as follows: 66 participants from Nairobi Province, making up 56.8% of the total participants, 33 participants from Central Province, making up 28.4% of the participants, and 17 participants from Rift Valley Province, representing 14.7% of the total participants. Responses of the participants on the demographic variables were

grouped into categories. Frequencies and percentages of sample composition and the demographics of these participants are presented in Table 3.1 and 3.2.

The participants in this study ranged in age from 14 to 80 years old. The average age of caregivers was 35 years (mean = 35.75). A total of eight four respondents were aged between twenty years and forty years of age. There were 41 respondents (35.3%) aged between 21 and 30, and forty three respondents (37.1%) aged between 31 and 40 years. The care recipients ranged in age from 1 year to 74 years old. The average age of the care recipients was 31 years (mean = 31.36). The largest number of care recipients were aged between 21 years and 40 years with 35 individuals (30.2%) between ages twenty one and thirty, and another 35 (30.2%) between thirty one and forty. Fourteen of the care recipients were pediatric HIV/AIDS with children under the age of ten years. More than eighty seven percent (87.9 %) of the respondents reported a monthly household income of 5,000 Kenya shillings or less (approximately \$75 US dollars), with about 50% having a monthly household income ranging between Kenya Shillings 1000 to 5000. About a quarter of the respondents (23.3% reported a monthly household income of less than 1000 Kenya Shillings.

Education levels for the participants ranged form no formal education at all, to some years in college. There were two modes for the education level, 8 and 9. These represent the number of years in school and would indicate completion of primary school. The two modes most likely result from a change in Kenya's education system in 1985 from the 7-4-2-3 British system of education (seven years in primary school, four years of ordinary level education, 2 years of advanced level education, and three years in university) to the American 8-4-4 system of education (eight years in primary school,

four years in high school, and four years in university. More than half of all participants had only a primary school education (58.9%). Five percent (5%) had less than 2 years of schooling (Table 3.1).

There were between two to eleven persons living in the households of the caregivers that were interviewed. Fifty of the respondents (43.1%) had two to four persons living with them while another fifty nine (50.9%) had five to eight people living in their household. as an average of six people in the households of the caregivers (mean = 5.16). Caregivers had provided care for an average of twenty four months. Twenty four caregivers (20.7%) had been providing care for a period of less than 6 months. There were twenty nine caregivers (25%) who had provided care for a period of 6 to 12, and the 36 (31%). The duration of care ranged from 1 month to 120 months (Table 3.2).

Sixty of the participants (51.7%) reported they were HIV positive, 32 participants (27.6%) reported they were HIV negative, and the remaining 24 participants (20.7%) did not know their HIV status. Over 60% of the caregivers were caring for one family member with HIV/AIDS, while 23.3% were providing care for two or more family members living with HIV/AIDS. Thirteen participants (11.2%) were caring for a spouse, 10 (8.6%) participants were caring for a parent, 27 participants (23.3%) were caring for a son or daughter and 20 participants (17.2%) were caring for a sibling. Table 3.2 presents these number.

While findings of this study will be a useful primer in understanding the experiences of caregivers in Kenya, statistical inferences from this study will be limited to the sample used here.

Table 3.1

Demographic Characteristics of the Female Caregivers: Age of Caregiver, Age of Care Recipient, Number of Years in School, Monthly Household Income and Number of Persons Living in Household

Variables		Frequency	Percentage	Range
Age of caregiver	0-10	0	0	
	11-20	4	3.4	
	21-30	41	35.3	
	31-40	43	37.1	14-80
	41-50	12	10.3	
	51-60	11	9.5	
	61 and above	5	4.3	
Age of care		14	12.1	
recipient	0-10			1-74
	14-20	8	6.9	
	21-30	35	30.2	
	31-40	35	30.2	
	41-50	14	12.1	
	51-60	6	5.2	
	61 and above	4	3.4	
Number of years	< 2	6	5.2	
in school	3-8	57	49.1	0-16
	9-13	25	21.6	
	>14	19	16.4	
	Missing	9	7.8	
Monthly	Less than 1000	27	23.3	
Household	1001-2500	30	25.9	300-20000
Income (KSh.)	2501-5000	30	25.9	
	5001-7500	8	6.9	
	7501-10000	3	2.6	
	Above 10000	1	.9	
	Missing	17	14.7	
Number of				
persons living in household	2-4	50	43.1	2-11
	5-8	59	50.9	
	9-12	7	6	

Table 3.2

Demographic Characteristics of the Female Caregivers: Duration of care, number of persons the caregiver is providing care for, HIV status of caregiver, & relationship to the care recipient

Variables		Frequency	Percentage	Range
Duration of care	<6 months	24	20.7	
(months)	6-12	29	25.0	
	13-24	36	31.0	
	25-36	9	7.8	1-120
	37-48	7	6.0	
	49-60	5	4.3	
	>60	6	5.2	
# of persons CG	1	71	61.2	
is caring for	2	28	24.1	
	3	8	6.9	1-6
	4	4	3.4	1-0
	5	3	2.6	
	6	2	1.7	
HIV Status				
of caregiver	Positive	60	51.7	
	Negative	32	27.6	
	Don't know	24	20.7	
Relationship to				
care recipient	Spouse/significant	11.2	11.2	
	other	10	8.6	
	Parent	27	23.3	
	Son/Daughter	20	17.2	
	Sibling	46	39.7	
	Relative			

Procedures

The process of data collection took place over an eight week period beginning in October 2005 until November 2005. The researcher contacted a number of clinics and AIDS agencies that provided services to persons living with HIV/AIDS. At each location, the researcher identified a contact person and scheduled a meeting with him/her. The contact person was briefed about the purpose of the study and what procedures were involved. The process of informed consent was explained and its significance in the integrity of research was clearly explained.

Study packets were given to the contact person to distribute to caregivers that were affiliated with the respective agency. In many instances, the packets were to be distributed by home-based health care workers or counselors who made occasional home visits to persons living with HIV/AIDS. The contact persons were instructed to read the invitational letters to those caregivers who were not literate and invite them to participate in the study.

Due to the sensitive nature of the study and issues related to confidentiality, the caregivers were asked to initiate contact with the researcher in order to express their interest in participating in the study. A phone number was provided in the invitational letter so that those who had access to a phone could call the researcher to express their interest in participating in the study. Those that did not have a phone were asked to sign the invitational letter as an expression of their willingness to participate in the study and were asked to meet the researcher at a prearranged time at the same location where they obtained the packet. This was made necessary by the nature of the locales where the caregivers lived.

In Nairobi province, caregivers were contacted through KENWA and WOFAK. Both of these agencies had drop-in centers in various slum areas in Nairobi. It was deemed that obtaining physical directions to a caregiver's home would be a near impossible task in an area that is predominantly marked by alleys. As a result, it became necessary to identify a central place at each location where the interview would be conducted. The drop-in centers were used as meeting locations and the interviews were conducted here. Three KENWA drop-in centers were used namely, Mathare, Soweto, and Korogocho. One WOFAK drop in center was used, namely Korogocho. In Central Province and Rift Valley Province, the process was somewhat easier because it was easier to obtain directions. However, participants were scattered over large areas as compared to Nairobi where concentration rates were high in the areas selected for this study.

The study packets also contained a letter of informed consent as well as copies of the instruments that were to be used. These instruments were a researcher designed Demographic Questionnaire, the Caregiver Burden Inventory (Zarit et al., 1980), and the Brief COPE (Carver, 1997). At a time agreed upon in the initial contact, the researcher met with each participant and conducted oral interviews. This was done for all participants, including those that could read and write in order to ensure that the interviews were conducted in a uniform manner.

The researcher began by asking participants what language they preferred to use for the interview, Swahili, English, and Kikuyu. Based on their response, the researcher then proceeded to go over the informed consent with the participants in the language that they understood best. The researcher was accompanied by a witness who ensured that the

informed consent process was followed accordingly. The role of the witness was explained at the onset of the interview and participants were asked if they had any objections to having a witness at the interview. In all the interviews, none of the participants objected to having a witness. The letter of informed consent contained a request to audio record the interviews, with a designated place on the letter for the participants to sign as an indication of their approval. However, many participants expressed concern about being tape recorded and appeared to be suspicious of the process. Consequently, the researcher made the decision not to tape record any of the interviews.

The researcher proceeded to administer the instruments, beginning with the demographic questionnaire, followed by the Caregiver Burden Inventory. The Brief Cope was the final instrument to be administered. Participants were free to stop the researcher in order to ask any questions, or if they felt uncomfortable at any point during the interview. The participants were also free to not respond to any of the questions if they chose to. Participation was voluntary. Each participant was given 150 Kenya Shillings in appreciation for their time and the researcher explained that this money would be given regardless of whether or not the participant chose to discontinue in the course of the interview.

The researcher maintained full responsibility for the distribution and administration of the instruments in this study. Standardized procedures were used following the outline provided to, and approved by the Institutional Research Board at the researcher's university. Every effort was made to ensure that all participants received the same information and that data was collected in a uniform format.

Instrumentation

Instrument selection and design involved a thorough review of relevant literature with the goal of identifying demographic variables that would be relevant to this study as well as instruments that would be most appropriate for use with the target population to obtain the information that was sought in this study. The researcher gave consideration to cultural issues that might impact data collection and selected instruments that would be most congruent with the cultural environment. Three instruments were used to collect relevant data for this study. These consisted of a researcher-designed demographic questionnaire, the Caregiver Burden Inventory (Zarit, et al., 1980), and the Brief Cope (Carver, 1997). All instruments were translated into Swahili and Kikuyu and administered to the participants in their preferred language. The procedures followed for translation are discussed in a separate section.

Demographic Questionnaire

The first instrument was a researcher-designed demographic questionnaire. This questionnaire consisted of 10 items that sought to obtain information about the participants and their care recipients. The demographic variables that are included in this survey include the age of the caregiver, relationship to the care recipient, education level, duration of care, and household income. The variables that this instrument sought to obtain were guided by previous studies on caregivers. Research has been inconclusive about the demographic variables that impact caregiver burden and the findings are mixed. In a study conducted with a Turkish population, Karlikaya, Yukse, Varlibas & Tireli (2005) found that the caregiver's relationship to the care recipient had an impact on the level of burden experienced. Other variables such as age of care receiver (Karlikaya et

al., 2005), severity of the patient's symptoms, and duration of care (Onishi, et al., 2005) were found to be related to caregiver burden. Folkman et al. (1994) found that ethnicity, income level, and social support were all significant factors in the perception of burden among caregivers of men with AIDS. The demographic questionnaire sought to obtain information about the care recipient's age and their level of functioning as indicated on a measure of activities of daily living that was incorporated into this questionnaire. The five items on activities of daily living asked participants to indicate the level of functioning on a scale of 1 to 4 of the care recipient in the areas of walking, bathing, dressing, getting in and out of bed, and toileting. Several studies have found that the level of instrumental needs of the care recipient had a significant impact on the level of caregiver burden perceived (Cooper et al., 2006; Pakenham, Dadds, & Terry, 1995; Wight, 2000).

Caregiver Burden Inventory

To measure the level of perceived burden, the study used the Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory (Zarit, Reever & Bach-Peterson, 1980), a 22-item scale that is one of the most widely used tool in the study of caregivers (Parks & Novielli, 2000). Indeed, the Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory remains the most consistently used measure of caregiver burden in studies of caregivers for persons with dementia (Cummings et al., 2002). The items were derived from clinical and research experience with dementia caregivers and they have high content validity. The Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory has high internal consistency and good test–retest reliability (Gallagher, Rappaport, Benedict et al. 1985; Hebert, Bravo, & Preville, 2000). Additionally, respondent ratings of

caregiver burden obtained from the Caregiver Burden Inventory were judged to be fairly reliable for the caregivers to whom it was given with a reliability coefficient of .88.

The 22-item Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory has been translated and validated in French (Hebert et al., 20001993). This instrument has also been translated for use in languages such as Japanese (Onishi et al., 2005; Takahashi, et al., 2005), and Spanish (Gutierrez-Maldonado et al., 2005).

This instrument provides a single summary measure of the caregiver's appraisal of the impact caregiving has had on their lives. Participants are provided with a 5 point Likert scale ranging from 'never' to 'nearly always' and they select the response that best describes how they feel when taking care of another person. The numbers for the responses are added to obtain a total score that ranges from 1 to 88. The total score indicates the level and severity of burden perceived (0-20 = little or no burden, 21-40 = mild to moderate burden, 41-60 = moderate to severe burden, 61-88 = severe burden. The total score on the Caregiver Burden Inventory was the dependent variable in this study.

A review of existing literature found no instances of the Zarit Caregiver Burden having been used with any caregivers in Africa. Although the Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory has been widely used in Europe and the United States, its use in developing countries has been fairly limited (The 10/66 Dementia Research Group, 2004). No translations of this instrument into Swahili or Kikuyu were known to have been in existence at the time of this study.

Brief COPE

The Brief Cope (Carver, 1997) is an abridged version of the 60-item Cope Inventory that was developed by Carver, Scheier, & Weintraub (1989). The Brief COPE

was developed based on concepts of coping from Lazarus and Folkman (1984). There are 28 items on the Brief Cope, with two items making up one of fourteen scales of coping, namely, self-distraction, active coping, denial, substance use, use of emotional support, use of instrumental support, behavioral disengagement, venting, positive reframing, planning, humor, acceptance, religion, and self-blame. Participants are required to rate the degree to which they use each coping strategy to deal with a particular stressful event. Ratings are made on a 4-point Likert-type scale that ranges from "I haven't been doing this at all" (1) to "I've been doing this a lot (4). The Brief Cope contains items that look at different types of coping responses encompassing what the literature refers to as affective or emotion focused strategies/responses, and problem focused strategies/responses. Coolidge et al. (2000) grouped the subscales on the Brief Cope into three groups, emotion focused strategies, problem focused strategies, and dysfunctional strategies. The Brief Cope was validated with a sample of 168 participants that were survivors of Hurricane Andrew in the United States and has good psychometric properties with alphas ranging from .50 to .90. Respondent ratings of coping responses on the Brief Cope were judged to be fairly reliable for the population of caregivers in this study, with a reliability coefficient of .69.

The Brief Cope has been used in research with various populations. Badr (2004) used the Brief Cope in a study that investigated the role of gender and health on marital adjustment in married couples. The Brief Cope was used in a study to investigate how internet health information use was related to coping among breast cancer patients (Fogel, 2004). Meyer (2001) also used the Brief Cope to study how symptom severity,

social functioning and psychological well-being relate to coping among patients with schizophrenia.

Two studies with persons recently diagnosed with HIV/AIDS in South Africa used the Brief Cope to assess ways of coping among this population (Olley et al., 2004; Olley et al., 2005). Olley et al. (2005) investigated post-traumatic stress disorder with HIV/AIDS patients in South Africa. These authors conducted a factor analysis and extracted five coping factors from the Brief Cope for this population.

The Brief Cope has been used in many studies because of its ease of administration and reduced administration time burden. The Brief Cope has also been translated into several languages such as French (Muller & Spitz, 2003) and Spanish (Perczek et al., 2000). In abbreviating the COPE inventory to come up with the Brief Cope, the authors followed strong loadings from factor analyses of the original Cope Inventory. A review of the literature found no studies that had used the Brief Cope with a Kenyan population. There were no known existing Swahili or Kikuyu versions of the Brief Cope.

The author of the Brief Cope recommends that researchers adapt the instrument as needed for their own use. The author also states that there is no overall score on this instrument and suggests that researchers create second order factors using their own data to determine the composition of these factors. For this reason, some items on the Brief Cope were reverse coded to reflect what may be seen as maladaptive coping behaviors. Scales whose items were reverse coded were self-blame, substance use, behavioral disengagement, and denial. A factor analysis was deemed to be the best method of data analysis so that the researcher could identify more general patterns of coping among the

target population. Trial runs of the factor analysis with items reverse coded were run against items that were all coded similarly. The two factor analyses yielded the same factors, with the only difference being negative values in the alpha coefficients.

Translation of Instruments

All instruments were translated into two languages, Swahili and Kikuyu. There are over fifty (50) languages spoken in Kenya. Swahili is the national language and most Kenyans speak a native language and Swahili as well. The two languages were chosen because of the locations where the study would take place. Kikuyu is the predominant language in Central Province and the area of the Rift Valley Province where the study was conducted. Swahili was also selected because it is Kenya's national language and the unifying language between tribes. It was expected that most participants drawn from Nairobi Province would speak and understand Swahili.

The researcher conducted a preliminary review of instruments that have been used to measure burden as well as those used to examine coping. None of the instruments found had been validated for use with African populations. The researcher selected instruments that would oppose the least complexities in translation. The final instruments were the Brief Cope and the Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory.

For each of the three instruments, the researcher put together two teams of individuals who were fluent in each language, namely, Swahili and Kikuyu. In the initial meeting, the teams reviewed the English instruments to be sure that they understood what each instrument aimed to obtain. Further, the teams discussed each item on the instruments to obtain clarity. Each team was divided into two groups, one of which would translate from English to Swahili or Kikuyu, and one of which would back translate the

first draft back to English. The final draft of each instrument was then given to a linguistic expert in each language and these persons were asked to check the translated questionnaires for validity and clarity of items.

There was difficulty in translating concepts from English to Swahili and Kikuyu. This complexity arose from the very onset, with questions about how to refer to the caregiver and the care recipient in Kikuyu and Swahili. The Swahili phrase that was used 'watoa huduma' to refer to caregivers implies a person who delivers a service. This was the closest translation to caregiver. In Kikuyu, the same difficulty arose and it was decided to refer to the caregiver as 'murori wa muruaru' a phrase that translates into 'the one who looks after the patient'. In the demographic questionnaire for instance, the activities of daily living required the respondents to indicate to what extent the care recipient needed help or supervision in various activities. The second option 'needs supervision' translated to Kikuyu as 'needs to be watched'. The last option 'needs total help' translated into Swahili and Kikuyu as 'is unable/cannot'.

All the Kikuyu instruments refer to the care recipient as *muruaru*, a Kikuyu word for 'the one who is sick'. Efforts were made to refrain from language that portrayed the persons living with HIV/AIDS as victims but this proved to be challenging due to linguistic considerations. In the Caregiver Burden Inventory, some concepts such as privacy as addressed in item 11 and control in item 17, posed complexities in translating.

Items in both the Caregiver Burden Inventory and the Brief Cope hold distinctions that are so subtle as to almost be lost in translation. For example, in the Caregiver Burden Inventory, items 20 (do you feel you should be doing more for your relative?) and 21 (do you feel you could do a better job in caring for your relative?) were repetitive in the

translated instruments. In the Brief Cope, the questions for each of the fourteen (14) scales were so closely related that in translating, it was difficult to make distinctions. Item 4 for example (I've been using alcohol and other drugs to make myself feel better) and item 11 (I've been using alcohol and other drugs to help me get through it) were very similar when they were translated. Other questions that posed this problem were item 3 (I've been saying to myself 'this isn't real) and item 8 (I've been refusing to believe that it has happened); item 18 (I've been making jokes about it) and item 28 (I've been making fun of the situation); and item 6 (I've been giving up trying to deal with it) and item 16 (I've been giving up the attempt to cope).

Research Design

There were two overall goals in this study. One was to identify underlying coping response factors on the Brief Cope (Carver, 1997) among female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya and the second goal was to investigate the relationship between coping factors and perceived caregiver burden. Factor analysis is an advanced correlation analysis of the data whose goal is to discover if the observed variables can be explained largely or entirely in terms of a much smaller number of variables called factors (Smith & Glass, 1987). This procedure was used to investigate the first hypothesis and answer the first research question. The identity of each factor is determined after a review of which items correlate the highest with that factor. Items that correlate the highest with a factor define the meaning of that factor. The principal components analysis procedure was used to extract the factors from the variable data. A latent root criterion was used to determine which factors to extract (Hair et al., 1998).

This criterion requires that each given factor must be capable of explaining at least the equivalent of one variable's variance in order to be retained for interpretation.

A multiple regression was used to investigate the second hypothesis and answer the second research question. Regression analysis is a process of data analysis that uses the correlation between two variables to predict one from the other (Smith & Glass, 1987). Multiple regression analysis investigates whether one dependent variable can be predicted based on two or more independent variables. The second hypothesis sought to predict caregiver burden based on coping response factors by means of a multiple regression.

Variables

Variables for this study were selected based on a review of the literature in the areas of caregiver burden and coping factors. The Brief Cope consisted of twenty eight items. These items were further divided into fourteen scales, with two items contributing to each scale. Five factors were extracted from these scales by means of a factor analysis.

Independent variables

Coping response scores: These were obtained after a factor analysis of the responses on the Brief Cope (Carver, 1997) to extract 5 coping factors for the participants in this study. The Brief Cope consists of 28 items that fall under 14 scales. A data reduction procedure was undertaken by means of a factor analysis with varimax rotation to extract coping factors that best explained the coping responses among this population. The responses on the items that contributed to each of the five factors were summed to obtain a total score on the five factors. This total score on each of the five factors

extracted by the factor analysis became the independent variable against which caregiver burden prediction would be investigated.

Dependent variables

Caregiver Burden: The perceived caregiver burden was obtained from the Caregiver Burden Inventory (Zarit, et al., 1980). The total score was obtained by totaling the values that corresponded with the responses on each item of the Caregiver Burden Inventory. A Caregiver Burden Total score was obtained and became the dependent variable in the second hypothesis. This variable was used in the analysis to investigate whether coping response factors can be used predictors of caregiver burden.

Data Analysis

The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) was used to conduct the analyses. A basic descriptive statistics test was run to obtain frequencies on the demographic variables. Factor analysis and multiple regression were conducted to investigate the two hypotheses as described below.

Research Question A

What are the underlying factors among coping responses in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya?

Hypothesis 1: A factor analysis of the Brief Cope (Carver, 1997) will produce five significant coping factors among female caregivers for a family member that is living

with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. The Brief Cope consists of fourteen scales, each of which is made up of two items. The scales on the Brief Cope are as follows:

• Self-distraction: Items 1 and 19

• Active coping: Items 2 and 7

• Denial: Items 3 and 8

• Substance use: Items 4 and 11

• Use of emotional support: Items 5 and 15

• Use of instrumental support: Items 10 and 23

• Behavioral disengagement: Items 6 and 16

• Venting: Items 9 and 21

• Positive reframing: Items 12 and 17

• Planning: Items 14 and 25

• Humor: Items 18 and 28

• Acceptance: Items 20 and 24

• Religion: Items 22 and 27

• Self-blame: Items 13 and 26

Participants' responses for each scale were obtained by summing the responses on the two items that made up each scale. Item responses on four scales that were considered to be dysfunctional coping responses were reverse-coded, namely, self-blame, substance use, behavioral disengagement, and denial (Cooper et al., 2005). A principal component factor analysis with varimax rotation was run for the fourteen scales. Promax rotation was considered for this procedure. However, because the factors extracted from the factor analysis were to be used as independent variables in a multiple regression, varimax

rotation was used because it controlled for multicollinearity of the factors (Hair et al., 1998). The authors recommend the following:

To maximize prediction from a given number of independent variables, the researcher should look for independent variables that have low multicollinearity with the other independent variables but also have high correlations with the dependent variable. (pp. 157).

Trial runs of the factor analysis with items reverse coded were run against items that were all coded similarly. The two factor analyses yielded the same factors, with the only difference being negative values in the alpha coefficients.

Five variables loaded at Eigenvalues greater than an absolute value of 1. Factor analysis was done in two ways, 1) instructing SPSS to extract five factors, and 2) instructing SPSS to extract only those factors that loaded an Eigenvalue of 1. Both factor analyses yielded the exact same factor components. The components of these factors were identified and new variables were created accordingly. Scores for each participant were then obtained on each of the new factors. This yielded a total score on each of the new factors, and these scores became the independent variables that were used to test for hypothesis 2.

Research Question B

What relationships exist between coping response factors and caregiver burden in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya? *Hypothesis 1:* Coping factors derived from the factor analysis of the Brief Cope will be significant predictors of caregiver burden among female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya.

We failed to reject hypothesis 1 because the factor model yielded five significant factors that loaded at an Eigenvalue of 1. Additionally, a factor analysis instructing SPSS to extract only five factors extracted the very same factors that loaded at an Eigenvalue of 1. Consequently, the second hypothesis that was tested stated that coping factors derived from the factor analysis (Social support, Hope, Acceptance, Planning and Disposition) would be significant predictors of caregiver burden among female caregivers for a family member that was living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya.

Regression analyses were preceded by scatter plots for each variable to determine whether these variables were linearly related to overall caregiver burden. Regression analyses were then conducted using SPSS to investigate the relationships between each coping factor and caregiver burden among female caregivers for a family member that was living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya.

Post Analysis procedures

In order to further investigate the relationship between caregiver burden and caregiver characteristics, post hoc analysis of the data were conducted. The researcher sought to investigate the relationship between caregiver demographic variables and caregiver burden, as well as the relationship between certain care recipient characteristics and caregiver burden. Demographic variables were grouped into categories and these categories were further dummy coded for regression analysis. The results are presented in chapter 4.

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

This study investigated caregiver burden and coping responses among female caregivers for a family member living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. The study identified significant coping response factors in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. The study also examined the relationships that existed among coping response factors and caregiver burden in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya.

To investigate coping factors among female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya, a principal component factor analysis with varimax rotation was conducted on the Brief Cope. Five coping factors were extracted from this analysis. Regression analyses were conducted for each of these factors to investigate how they related to caregiver burden. Post hoc analyses also were conducted to investigate other relationships within the data, specifically the relationships between caregiver demographic variables and caregiver burden, and the relationship between care recipient characteristics and caregiver burden.

The sample consisted of 116 females that were the primary caregiver for a family member that was living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. Participants were distributed as follows: 66 participants from Nairobi Province, making up 56.8% of the total participants, 33 participants from Central Province, making up 28.4% of the participants, and 17 participants from Rift Valley Province, representing 14.7% of the total participants. The participants in this study ranged in age from 14 to 80 years old. Details of the demographic variables are contained in Tables 3.1 and 3.2.

Variables of Interest

The goal of the first research question and hypothesis was to identify significant coping response factors in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. This was done by means of a principle components factor analysis with varimax rotation. The factor analysis produced five significant coping factors that loaded at an Eigenvalue of 1. Sample means for the five factors and the 14 scales that make up the Brief Cope were obtained. The highest possible score for the 14 scales is 8. The highest possible score on each of the five factors (Social Support, Hope, Acceptance, Planning, and Disposition) is 16. These are presented in Table 4.1.

Table 4.1

Means and standard deviations among variables of interest.

Variables	Mean	SD
BRIEF COPE SCALES		
Self-Distraction	5.17	1.960
Active Coping	7.09	1.312
Emotional Support	6.25	1.955
Instrumental Support	6.33	1.904
Venting	4.13	1.931
Positive Reframing	6.44	1.434
Planning	7.06	1.286
Humor	2.51	1.195
Acceptance	7.19	1.349
Religion	7.51	1.063
Self Blame	6.32	2.088
Substance Use	7.72	.974
Denial	7.26	1.457
Behavioral Disengagement	6.66	1.721
FIVE FACTORS EXTRACTED		
SOCIAL SUPPORT	12.57	3.505
HOPE	12.98	3.182
ACCEPTANCE	14.98	1.943
PLANNING	11.19	2.547
DISPOSITION	2.51	1.195

A bivariate correlation was conducted to describe the existence of any relationships between two sets of variables: (Set 1) the 14 scales of the Brief Cope (Self-Distraction, Active coping, Denial, Substance use, Use of emotional support, Use of instrumental support, Behavioral disengagement, Venting, Positive reframing, Planning, Humor, Acceptance, Religion, and Self-blame) and (Set 2) the five factors that were produced by the factor analysis (Social Support, Hope, Acceptance, Planning, and Disposition). The correlation matrix among the variables of interest in the analysis of the first research question/hypothesis is presented in Figure 4.1.

There was apparent multicollinearity with the large correlations between Support and Instrumental Support (.903) and Emotional Support (.909). Tabachnik & Fidell (1995) suggested that bivariate correlations above 90 were needed for the effects of multicollinearity to become apparent. It was noted however that these two scales were the contributing scales to the Social Support factor on the factor analysis and therefore, this multicollinearity was expected.

Figure 4.1

Correlation Matrix: Brief Cope scales and Coping Factors

	SUP	НОРЕ	ACCE	PLAN	DISP	SD	AC	Deny	SU	ES	IS	BD	SB	Vent	PR	Plan	HMR	Rel	acpt
SUP	1	145	013	.200*	.032	.252**	.147	071	.080	.909**	.903**	018	205*	.243**	070	.031	.032	.160	.025
HOPE		1	.259**	126	106	.292**	.007	.259**	.128	056	209*	.797**	.867**	141	.263**	038	106	013	.097
ACCE			1	132	141	132	.325**	.874**	.687**	058	.038	.188*	.239*	207*	.249**	.050	141	.095	.154
PLAN				1	.074	.234*	.176	227*	.078	.110	.254**	023	173	.870**	.186*	.674**	.074	.151	.130
DISP					1	.226*	.036	135	079	.002	.056	004	158	010	308**	.162	1.00**	133	.042
SD						1	.161	238*	.093	.206*	.251**	261**	230*	.189*	154	.180	.226*	.174	.012
AC							1	.255**	.266**	.092	.169	.076	052	.095	.334**	.205*	.036	.091	.019
Deny								1	.247**	099	027	.174	.252**	239*	.176	092	135	016	.159
SU									1	.032	.116	.115	.100	055	.233*	.237*	079	.214	.068
ES										1	.642**	.006	090	.156	089	016	.002	.074	.002
IS											1	040	.285**	.286**	038	.074	.056	.219	.045
BD												1	.389**	095	.307**	.097	004	.072	.060
SB													1	137	.148	138	158	079	.098
Vent														1	.011	.223*	010	.027	.081
PR															1	.351**	.308**	.172	.117
Plan																1	.162	.259	.137
HMR																	1	133	.042
Rel																		1	.048
Acpt																			1

^{*}Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed). ** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

The second research question sought to predict caregiver burden based on the coping factors identified from the factor analysis. A regression analysis was conducted to investigate what relationship existed among the five factors and the caregiver burden. The correlation matrix among the variables of interest for the analysis investigating the second research question and hypothesis is presented in Table 4.2. No problems with multicollinearity are observed in this matrix.

Table 4.2 Correlation Matrix: Caregiver Burden and Coping Factors

	Support	Hope	Accept	Plan	Disp	CGB
Support	1	145	013	.200*	.032	.147
Hope		1	.259	126	106	563
Accept			1	132	141	182
Plan				1	.074	.224*
Disp					1	.031
CGB						1
*p<.05						

p<.05

Testing for Research Question A

The hypothesis that was used to test the first research question stated that a factor analysis of the Brief Cope (Carver, 1997) would produce five significant coping factors for female caregivers of a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. A principal component factor analysis with varimax rotation on the Brief Cope was used to test this hypothesis. The factor analysis extracted five factors that all loaded at an acceptable Eigenvalue of 1 and together, accounting for 60% of the total variance. A review of the initial factor loadings suggests that a proper solution was attainable through principal components analysis, as it was capable of converging in 9 iterations. The composition matrix for the five factors is presented in Figure 4.2.

Figure 4.2
Factor Analysis Components

	Component								
	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3	Factor 4	Factor 5				
Self distraction		.503							
Active coping			.697						
Denial			613						
Substance use			704						
Emotional support	.886								
Instrumental support	.872								
Behavioral disengagement		.751							
Venting				.560					
Positive reframing									
Planning				.789					
Humor					.881				
Acceptance									
Religion									
Self blame		.701							

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. Rotation converged in 9 iterations.

Factor 1: This factor was most highly correlated with emotional support (Cronbach's alpha coefficient of .886) and instrumental support (Cronbach's alpha coefficient of .872). This factor was labeled *Social Support* and accounted for 13% of the total variance observed on the rotation sum of squared loadings.

Factor 2: The components for factor 2 were behavioral disengagement with a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of .751 and self-blame with a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of .701. This factor was labeled *Hope* and it explained 12.7% of the total variance on the rotation sum of squared loadings.

Factor 3: Factor 3 was composed of substance use and active coping. This component explained 12.7% of the total variance. Cronbach's alpha coefficients were -.704 and .697 respectively. The factor was labeled *Acceptance*.

Factor 4: This factor was representative of planning and venting with Cronbach's alpha coefficients of .789 and .560 respectively. They accounted for another 12.1% of the total variance. This factor was labeled *Planning*.

Factor 5: This had a unique loading, with only the humor scale that had a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of .881 and it was named *Disposition*. Factor 1 and 2 had the strongest loadings and together accounted for 25% of the total variance. The third and fourth factors explained about 24% of the total variance. Although factor 5 had a unique loading, it was retained because of the high variance for which it accounted (9.4%). This factor also had a high Cronbach's alpha that made it reliable enough to be considered as a factor.

The five factors together explained more than 60% of the total variability in the original 14 scales (variables). Consequently, the complexity of the data could be reduced to these five factors with only a 40% loss of information. These five factors (Social Support, Hope, Acceptance, Planning, and Disposition) yielded by the factor analysis became the independent variables against which caregiver burden was measured to test hypothesis 2.

Testing for Research Question B

The second hypothesis stated that coping factors derived from a factor analysis of the Brief Cope would be significant predictors of caregiver burden among female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya.

The variables in the testing of the second hypothesis were caregiver burden scores and coping factors obtained in the factor analysis. Caregiver burden scores were obtained by totaling participant's responses on the 22 items on the Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory. The mean for the total caregiver burden score was 37.18 (SD=17.5). According to the cutoffs proposed by Zarit and Zarit (1987), this is indicative of mild to moderate burden. Twenty two participants (19%) were experiencing little to mild caregiver burden. There were forty nine participants (42.2%) who reported mild to moderate caregiver burden, thirty one (26.7%) who reported moderate to severe burden, and thirteen (11.2%) who reported experiencing severe caregiver burden.

A multiple regression analysis was performed to investigate relationships that exist between the dependent variable (caregiver burden) also known as the criterion variable and the independent variables (Social Support, Hope, Acceptance, Planning, and Disposition), also known as predictor variables.

Preliminary Analysis

A preliminary analysis procedure using case wise diagnostics was initiated in order to scrutinize the data for normal distribution, outliers, missing data, and linearity. In order to ensure that the data was normally distributed, a histogram was obtained and this indicated that the data was normally distributed. A residual analysis was applied to detect any outliers or extreme values that might adversely affect the final outcome. The residual values were reported for each case on caregiver burden. Two cases were excluded, one for missing data (number 6), and one that was an outlier (number 115) with a standard residual of 3.251.

Summary of results for the multiple regression.

The multiple regression analysis indicated that the overall coping factors model (Social Support, Acceptance, Planning, and Disposition) was a statistically significant predictor of caregiver burden (F=11.336, df =5, 1108, p<.01). This model explained 31.4% of the total variance in caregiver burden scores. The regression coefficients indicate that Hope was the only coping factor that had a unique contribution to the model at the .001 level (t= -6.531, p<.01). The effect of Social Support (t=.566, p>.05), Acceptance (t=-.363, p>.05), Planning (t=1.828, p>.05), and Disposition (t=-.366, p>.05) are not significant.

The multiple regression equation for caregiver burden is:

CAREGIVER BURDEN =66.635 + .228(SOCIAL SUPPORT) - 2.961(HOPE) - .267(ACCEPTANCE) + 1.013(PLANNING) - .433(DISPOSITION).

Post Hoc Analyses

In order to further investigate the relationship between caregiver burden and caregiver demographic variables as well as care recipient characteristics, the researcher conducted further analyses of the data. Demographic variables were grouped into categories and these categories were dummy coded for regression analysis. Age of care giver and age of care recipient were both placed into 7 categories with 10 year intervals. The number of years in school was placed into 4 categories that reflect no formal education, primary school, high school, and college. The other variables that were turned into categorical data were monthly household income, number of persons living in household, duration of care in months, number of persons being cared for, HIV status of the caregiver, and their relationship to the care recipient. In coding the relationship to the

care recipient, male and female care recipients were coded alike when the care recipient was a sibling, a parent, or a relative/friend/other.

Multiple regression analyses explored the relationship between each of these variables and caregiver burden. The findings of the regression analyses are presented in Table 4.3.

Table 4.3

Caregiver demographic variables and caregiver burden regression analyses

Variable	F Change	Sig. A	Adjusted R Square
Age of care giver	*.2.825	.019	.074
Number of years in school	*2.928	.037	.048
Monthly hshld income	1.412	.235	.014
Number of persons in hshld	.105	.747	008
Number of care recipients	.939	.444	002
HIV status of caregiver	.582	.560	007
Duration of care	.825	.534	008
Relationship to recipient	.616	.606	010

^{*}p<.05

The multiple regression analysis indicated that the age of the caregiver was a predictor of caregiver burden (F $_{5,\,110}$ =2.825, p=.02). As age increased, there was a significant decrease in caregiver burden. Age of the caregiver explained about 7% of the total variance in total caregiver burden scores. Education level also was a predictor of

burden (F $_{5,\,110}$ =2.928, p=.04). Caregiver burden decreased significantly with an increase in education level. The number of years in school explained 4.8% of the variance in caregiver burden scores. None of the other demographic variables were found to be significant predictors of caregiver burden among this population. These findings are discussed in chapter 5.

The relationship between care recipient characteristics and caregiver burden was also investigated with multiple regression analyses. The age of the caregiver and the functional level of the care recipient were the independent variables. The functionality of the care recipient was obtained by summing the responses on the five items on the demographic questionnaire that sought to obtain information on activities of daily living. The results are presented in Table 4.4.

Table 4.4

Care recipient characteristics and caregiver burden regression analyses

Variable	F Change	Sig.	Adjusted R Square
Age of care recipient	*.771	.573	010
Activities of daily living	*3.580	.061	.022

^{*}p<.05

The regression analysis found that the age of care recipient was not a significant predictor of caregiver burden (F $_{5, 110}$ =.771, p>.05). The summed score on activities of daily living was also not a statistically significant predictor of caregiver burden (F $_{5, 110}$ =3.580, p<.05). These findings are also discussed in chapter 5. The conclusion of the post hoc regression analyses was that caregiver burden among the population of this study can be predicted by age of the care giver and their level of education.

In summary, the principle components factor analysis of the Brief Cope yielded five coping factors: Social support, Hope, Acceptance, Planning, and Disposition. The regression analysis that was conducted to investigate the relationships between these five coping factors and caregiver burden indicated a significant inverse relationship between Hope and caregiver burden. The post-hoc analyses investigating the relationship between various caregiver and care recipient characteristics indicated a significant relationship between the caregiver's age and caregiver burden, and education level and caregiver burden.

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

This study examined coping factors and caregiver burden among female caregivers of a family member living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. Coping factors were derived from a principal components factor analysis of the fourteen scales on the Brief Cope (Carver, 1997). Caregiver burden was measured using the Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory. Multiple regression analysis investigated the relationships among caregiver burden and coping factors. Post—hoc regression analyses further investigated the relationship between caregiver burden and caregiver demographic characteristics, as well as care recipient characteristics.

This study identified coping factors that female caregivers in Kenya utilize to mediate the effects of caregiving. These factors were identified and labeled as Social Support, Hope, Acceptance, Planning, and Disposition. The coping factors produced by the factor analysis are consistent with what has been identified as coping factors or responses in previous studies of coping among caregivers. The importance of social support (McCausaland & Pakenham, 2003; Parks & Pilisuk, 1991), hope (Akinsola, 2001; Folkman, 1997), acceptance (Brouwer et al., 2000; Mellins & Ehrhardt, 1994), planning (Stewart, Hart & Manning, 1995), and disposition (Folkman, 1997; Hooker et al., 1992; Scheier et al., 1989) as coping strategies has been documented.

There were only two other studies conducted examining coping factors in African populations (Mushonga, 2001; Olley et al., 2005). Mushonga (2001) studied 151 caregivers of HIV/AIDS patients in Zimbabwe and found that social support, stigma, and the patients' functional level on instrumental activities of daily living were significant

predictors of caregiver burden. This author also found that affective coping was significantly related to caregiver burden as well. Olley et al. (2005) investigated coping and post traumatic stress disorder among patients recently diagnosed with HIV in South Africa and found that active planning, venting, denial, social support and substance use were significant coping factors with that population.

When the relationship between the five coping factors and caregiver burden was examined, Hope emerged as the one significant predictor of caregiver burden (t= -6.531, p<.001). The negative coefficient indicates a reverse relationship between the variables of hope and caregiver burden. In this study, Hope represented two scales on the Brief Cope, namely, behavioral disengagement, and self-blame. The items that contributed to these scales were as follows: Behavioral disengagement (Item 6: I've been giving up trying to deal with it, and Item 16: I've been giving up the attempt to cope) and Self-blame (Item 13: I've been criticizing myself, and Item 26: I've been blaming myself for things that happened). Both of these scales were reverse coded so that participants who did not engage in the behaviors implied by the items were rated higher. This study found that participants who reported not 'giving up dealing' or not 'giving up coping' with their situation perceived reduced caregiver burden than those who were giving up. Participants who did not blame or criticize themselves also had lower caregiver burden scores than those who reported blaming themselves or criticizing themselves.

A preliminary comparison of the factors identified in this study and those that have been identified in studies with American caregivers reveals some areas of commonality as well as some differences. One striking difference pertains to the use of religion as a coping response. In American studies, religiosity has been identified as one

of the most important coping responses among caregivers (Picot, 1995; Tolliver, 2001). It was expected that religiosity would also emerge as a significant coping factor among the population studies. However, the present study did not identify religion as a significant coping factor even though over 73% of the respondents reported praying or meditating more. The researcher hypothesizes that the reduced variance in responses to this item might account for the non-identification of religion as a way of coping.

Previous research found that seeking emotional support or instrumental support were important coping factors among caregivers (Parks & Pilisuk, 1991; Pratt et al., 1985). As expected, social support was an important coping factor with the population of the present study. However, this study found that while social support was a significant coping factor, it did not contribute significantly to the easing of caregiver burden. The participants in this study rated emotional support highly with a mean of 6.25 out of a possible eight points for the emotional support scale, and a mean of 6.33 for instrumental support out of a possible eight points. This would indicate that seeking and obtaining emotional and instrumental support is an important coping response for this population. As caregivers struggle to provide the care recipient with medication, dietary requirements as a result of illness, and at the same time meet their own needs as well as those of other family members, instrumental support is vital for survival (Olenja, 1999).

An unexpected finding was the lack of a significant relationship between Social Support as a coping factor and caregiver burden. Prior research found social support to be an important mitigating factor for caregiver burden (McCausaland & Pakenham, 2003; Rose & Clark-Alexander, 1999). The results of the present study differed from this finding. It is likely that with the restructuring of the extended family in Kenya (Olenja,

1999) caregivers may not be able to obtain the support that they need. The factor that was labeled Social Support included both emotional and instrumental support. It is estimated that instrumental support may be greatly hampered by limitations such as meager financial means etc.

The study also measured caregiver burden as experienced by the female caregivers in Kenya. According to the cutoffs proposed by Zarit and Zarit (1987), the majority of caregivers in the study experienced mild to moderate caregiver burden. A total of 49 (42.2%) of the caregivers reported experiencing mild to moderate burden. Only 13 (11.2%) caregivers reported experiencing severe caregiver burden.

These statistics should be interpreted with caution for several reasons. First, women in Africa as in most of the world are socialized to be carers and nurturers (Mushonga, 2001; Evans, 2005; Moore & Henry, 2005). The general perception of women as 'tower(s) of strength (Linsk & Poindexter, 2000) leaves no room for their protests or requests for help and the depth of their burden may go unnoticed until it is too late. Women as well are socialized to accept the responsibilities of caring as their lot in life (D'Cruz, 2004). As a result, it is possible that the degree of perceived burden is underreported because female caregivers consider the tasks of caregiving as their obligation. Previous studies have indicated gender differences in caregiver burden (Onishi et al., 2005) with women performing more tasks than men who take on the same role (Gallicchio et al., 2002).

The present study utilized a good sample size (n=116). Although the strength of the study may be reduced by the homogeneity of the sample, it is important to keep in mind that the population in this study reflects the prevalence patterns of HIV/AIDS in

Kenya. Most of the participants in this study were recruited from Korogocho, Mathare and Soweto. These are all areas that share low economic status and a generalized lack of resources. They are also the parts of Nairobi with the most severe infection rates (KENWA, 2004). The findings of this study therefore contribute significantly to a better understanding of caregiver burden as experienced by female caregivers in Kenya.

Limitations in the study

The most obvious threat to the internal validity of this study pertains to instrumentation. A review of the instruments available to measure the constructs of interest to this study revealed that none of these instruments had been normed for use with African populations. The closest use of the Brief Cope with this population was a study of post traumatic stress disorder with newly diagnosed HIV patients in South Africa (Olley et al., 2004). Although the Brief Cope has been used with several populations, its most prevalent use has been with White North American populations. Some studies have utilized translations of the Brief Cope in other languages – Spanish (Perczek, 2000) and French (Muller & Spitz, 2003) - and with other populations but such use remains limited.

Caregiver burden was measured with the Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory. This instrument was normed with mostly white caregivers of persons with dementia. There exist several translations of this instrument – French (He'bert et al., 1993), Japanese (Onishi et al., 2005; Takahashi, et al., 2005), and Spanish (Gutierrez-Maldonado et al., 2005). However, a review of the literature found no use of this instrument with any African populations. The lack of previous research among African populations with these instruments has implications for the validity of the instruments. It is questionable whether

the instruments are the best tools to measure the constructs under study with the current population.

A second threat to internal validity was the effects of translation. The researcher made every effort to ensure that the content of the items was retained and transferred in the process of translation. Translation involved not only the linguistic translation of words from English to Swahili or Kikuyu, but also the transfer of ideas and concepts in a manner that ensured they remained culturally relevant. This was a complicated process, especially because of the prevalence of different dialects in the same language. This was the case in Swahili translations because people in urban areas speak an informal version of Swahili called *Sheng* and the vocabulary and meanings assigned to phrases may vary from one area to another.

Threats to external validity in this study involve sampling procedures. A convenience sampling procedure was utilized, with information going out to recruit any person that was deemed to meet the criteria for the study. The use of AIDS agencies as recruiting centers for the study may also preclude a bias in that these are individuals who may already have access to a support network through their affiliation with the AIDS agency.

The majority of the participants in this study were recruited from Mathare, Soweto and Korogocho. These are all outskirts of Nairobi that are characterized by low economic status households. Most houses are shanties made of corrugated iron sheets. There are no paved roads and the sewer systems are in disrepair. Majority of the families who live in these areas live well below the poverty line as reflected in the reported monthly household income (range 300 Kenya Shillings -20,000 Kenya Shillings). More

than eighty seven percent (87.9%) of the participants in this study had a total household income that was less than 5000 Kenya shillings a month. The socioeconomic homogeneity of the population reduces the generalizability of these findings. Future research with female caregivers in Kenya would benefit from obtaining a more varied sample. A more accurate picture would be obtained from a sampling procedure that drew participants from varied socioeconomic backgrounds.

Implications for practice

This study has important implications for mental health professionals in Kenya. First of all, it is important to note that counseling is a young profession in Kenya. Current initiatives are geared towards persons who are infected with HIV/AIDS. As the numbers of persons with AIDS continue to grow, the burden of care continues to shift to the families of the infected persons (Olenja, 1999). In light of this, mental health professionals need to direct more attention towards family caregivers. Understanding the challenges that family caregivers are faced with in their caregiving experience will be an important first step in enhancing caregiver wellbeing, and in turn, impacting the patients' health in a positive way. Cumming et al., (2002) discuss the relationship between caregiver wellbeing and the health of the care recipient. As mental health strategies are designed for caregivers, it is important to keep in mind the coping factors that mitigate caregiver burden and to design interventions that facilitate these coping factors.

This study demonstrated the significance of fostering hope among caregivers.

Counseling efforts should then be geared towards fostering hope in caregivers. It is important to note that one of the contributing scales to the Hope factor is self-blame. In

light of the social stigma that surrounds HIV/AIDS in Kenya, it is particularly important that caregivers do not blame or criticize themselves and their patients.

The morale and outlook of caregivers are important factors in the provision of quality care for the AIDS patient (Mushonga, 2001; UNAIDS, 2000). In the face of such adversity as the current HIV statistics indicate, it is easy for both caregivers and their patients to give up. In Africa particularly, the limited understanding of HIV/AIDS (Nzioka, 2000; Olenja, 1999) leads to a social stigmatization of the disease. The lack of education and the limited access to medical facilities in Africa (Freeman, 2000) has often led to the view of HIV as a death sentence. Individuals who are infected with HIV are inclined to give up hope because there is no known cure for the HIV virus and they have no access to medicine that would enhance their quality of life. Efforts to make antiretroviral drugs available to Kenyans living with HIV/AIDS could have a significant effect not only by enhancing immune levels, but most importantly, by fostering hope among HIV/AIDS patients and their caregivers.

Caregivers could also benefit from practical support and emotional support through community resources. Possible interventions may include peer support groups where older caregivers who report lower caregiver burden are paired with younger caregivers. This kind of support group could serve to increase hope among those caregivers who were experiencing heightened caregiver burden, and in turn, positively impact their wellbeing.

Mental health workers can help caregivers anticipate and prevent stressful situations in caregiving by educating them and equipping them with skills needed for the tasks they perform. It is important to validate caregivers' experiences and assist them in

finding ways to sustain hope. This will positively impact the caregivers as well as the persons that they provide care for.

Implications for research

The present study was an initial exploration into the experiences of caregivers for a family member living with AIDS in Kenya. The findings of this study can serve as a guide for future research in this area. One important accomplishment of this study is the validation of the Brief Cope and the Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory with Kenyan caregivers. Davis (1998) called for more studies that validated instruments in distinct caregiver groups in order to assist in the provision of optimum functioning and health. Future research using these instruments would help to improve the metric properties of the instruments.

It would be beneficial for this study to be replicated with a larger sample size of caregivers. It would also be beneficial to have a sample that was more representative of the different socioeconomic groups in Kenya. Improved heterogeneity of the sample would have the benefit of enhancing the generalizability of the findings beyond the present sample. A research study with a control group investigating the efficacy of interventions that are designed to foster hope or provide support may also be helpful in identifying interventions that are effective for caregivers in Kenya.

The results also demonstrate a need for further research to examine the role of gender socialization in reporting caregiver burden. Previous research found that women caregivers were less likely to report caregiver burden than men caregivers (Songwathana, 2001). Possibilities for future research may include replicating this study with male caregivers to examine differences between male and female caregivers in Kenya.

Conclusion

This study investigated caregiver burden and coping responses among female caregivers for a family member living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. The study identified significant coping response factors in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya. The study also examined the relationships that existed among coping response factors and caregiver burden in female caregivers for a family member that is living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya.

In summary, the principle components factor analysis of the Brief Cope yielded five coping factors: Social support, Hope, Acceptance, Planning, and Disposition. The regression analysis that was conducted to investigate the relationships between these five coping factors and caregiver burden indicated a significant inverse relationship between Hope and caregiver burden. The post-hoc analyses investigating the relationship between various caregiver and care recipient characteristics indicated a significant relationship between the caregiver's age and caregiver burden, and education level and caregiver burden. The post hoc regression analyses indicated that caregiver burden among the population of this study can be predicted by age of the care giver and their level of education.

A significant relationship was found between Hope and caregiver burden.

Participants who had higher scores in Hope experienced reduced caregiver burden.

Education level and age of the caregiver were also found to be significantly related to caregiver burden. Caregiver burden decreased as age of caregivers increased. Caregiver burden also decreased as the education level increased. These findings have far reaching

implications for the HIV/AIDS education and counseling on all levels ranging from governmental, non-governmental and community levels.

This study has important implications for the practice of mental health counseling in Kenya. It provides information about current caregiving coping factors and provides a framework for intervention design and implementation. The study also raises some pertinent questions to be addressed in future research with caregivers in Kenya and in Africa. It is expected that this study will provide useful information to organizations that work with the population affected by HIV/AIDS in Kenya. The findings will be presented at various conferences, most notably, conferences for counselors in Kenya. It is the goal of the researcher to share information with AIDS organizations in Kenya such as the Kenya Network of Women with AIDS (KENWA), and Women Fighting AIDS in Kenya (WOFAK). Additionally, the Kenya ministry of Health can use the findings of this study to inform the services that are currently provided at Voluntary and Counseling Centers (VCT's) around the country.

The present study had limitations pertaining to instrumentation as well as homogeneity of the sample. In spite of these limitations, the study provides some significant information that is crucial in beginning to understand the experiences of caregivers in Kenya. The study is also an important first step towards the validation of instruments to measure caregiver burden as well as coping responses among caregivers in Kenya. It is hoped that this project will make a positive contribution to research on the experiences of caregivers in Kenya, and indeed, in Africa.

APPENDIX A: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL

IRB Approval



Office of Research & Commercialization

September 1, 2005

Ms. V. Muthoni Kimemia 5144 Conroy Road, Apt. 1037 Orlando, Fl 32811

Dear Ms. Kimemia:

With reference to your protocol #05-2838 entitled, "Caregiver Burden and Coping Responses for Females who are the Primary Caregiver for a Family Member Living with HIV/AIDS in Kenya," I am enclosing for your records the approved, expedited document of the UCFIRB Form you had submitted to our office. This study was approved by the Chairman on 8/30/05. The expiration date for this study will be 8/29/06. Should there be a need to extend this study, a Continuing Review form must be submitted to the IRB Office for review by the Chairman or full IRB at least one month prior to the expiration date. This is the responsibility of the investigator. Please notify the IRB when you have completed this study.

Please be advised that this approval is given for one year. Should there be any addendums or administrative changes to the already approved protocol, they must also be submitted to the Board through use of the Addendum/Modification Request form. Changes should not be initiated until written IRB approval is received. Adverse events should be reported to the IRB as they occur.

Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to call me at 407-823-2901.

Please accept our best wishes for the success of your endeavors.

Cordially,

Barbara Ward

Barbara Ward, CIM UCF IRB Coordinator (FWA00000351, IRB00001138)

Copy: IRB file

Dr. Andrew Daire - Child, Family and Community Sciences

BW:cc

12443 Research Parkway • Suite 302 • Orlando, FL 32826-3252 • 407-823-3778 • Fax 407-823-3299

An Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action Institution

APPENDIX B: PARTICIPANT INVITATIONAL LETTER

Invitation to Interview

Researcher Information

Supervisor Information

Name: V. Muthoni Kimemia Address: College of Education Dr. Andrew P. Daire College of Education

University of Central Florida

University of Central Florida P.O. Box 161250

P.O. Box 161250 Orlando, FL 32816

Orlando, FL 32816

Phone: (407) 782 - 4754

(407) 823 - 0385

I am a Ph. D candidate in the Counselor Education program at the University of Central Florida and being supervised by Dr. Andrew P. Daire. As part of my coursework, I am conducting a study, the purpose of which is to learn about the experiences of caregivers for family members living with HIV/AIDS. I am inviting you to participate in this study because you have been identified as a person caring for a family member with HIV/AIDS. If you agree to participate in this study, you will be asked to provide contact information where I can reach you to make an appointment for an interview with you. You may also call me to make arrangements for an interview appointment. My phone number is (0723) 709 088.

The interview will consist of three questionnaires, a caregiver demographic questionnaire, a coping responses survey and a caregiver burden survey. The interview is expected to last one hour and will be audio-recorded. The recordings are to assist me in my note taking only and will not be used for any other purposes. For the duration of the study, all recordings will be stored at a safe location and will be destroyed at the conclusion of this study. You will not have to answer any questions that you do not wish to answer. Your identity will be kept confidential and will not be revealed in the final manuscript.

If you agree to participate in this study, there is a minimal potential for risk with emotional discomfort when thinking about your care giving role. However, you can discontinue the interview at any time without consequence. You will receive compensation for your time in the amount of Kenya Shillings 150.00. You are free to withdraw your consent to participate and may discontinue participation in the interview at any time. All consent forms and instruments completed will be kept in a locked strong box until return to the University of Central Florida where they will be kept in a locked filing cabinet.

You are encouraged to ask any questions at any time about the nature of this study and the methods that I am using. Research at the University of Central Florida involving human participants is carried out under the oversight of the Institutional Review Board. Questions or concerns about research participants' rights may be directed to the UCFIRB office, University of Central Florida Office of Research, Orlando Tech Center, 12443 Research Parkway, Suite 207, Orlando, FL 32826. The phone number is (407) 823-2901.

UCF TRB
APPROVEDS
DATE 8/30/2005

I guarantee that the following conditions will be met:

- Your full names will not be used at any point of data analysis, data storage, or in the
 written report. All names involved in your case will be given pseudonyms/numbers that
 will be used in all verbal or written records and reports. At the conclusion of the study, all
 digital audio recordings will be deleted.
- 2) If you grant permission for audio recording, the information collected will not be used for any purpose other than for research under the Principal Investigator, and will not be played for any reason other than for analyzing this research. You may request at any time during the interview that the research stop recording.
- 3) Your participation in this research is voluntary; you have the right to withdraw at any point of the study, for any reason, and without any prejudice, and the information collected and records and reports written will be turned over to you.

collected and records and reports written will be turned over to you.
Thank you very much for your contribution to this study.
Sincerely,
Muthoni Kimemia
Please sign below to indicate your willingness to participate in this study.
I have read and understood the procedure described above. I am interested in participating in this study and give permission for the researcher to contact me. My contact information is provided here below.
Phone number:
Address:
Signed:
You may also call Muthoni Kimemia on (0723) 709-088 to set up an appointment for an interview. Thank you very much.

APPROVEDSED

APPENDIX C: PARTICIPANT CONSENT LETTER

Consent for Interview

nia Dziegielews	ski - Consent letter FCPLWHA -REVISED.doc
	Consent for Interview
Rese	earcher Information
Nam Addr	ress: College of Education, University of Central Florida P.O. Box 161250 Orlando, FL 32816
Phon	ne: (0723) 709 088
perio anyo inter- used locat quest	nk you for agreeing to participate in this study. You will be asked a number of questions for a od of one hour. Your identity will not be disclosed and your responses will not be discussed with one. All publications from this study will use code names and will not reveal your identity. This view will be tape-recorded. The recordings are to assist me in my note taking only and will not be for any other purpose. For the duration of the study, all recordings will be stored at a safe tion and will be destroyed at the conclusion of this study. You will not have to answer any tions that you do not wish to answer. Your identity will be kept confidential and will not be alled in the final manuscript.
free to an may received	reparticipation in this research is voluntary. If you experience any emotional discomfort, you are to stop the interview at any time. You will not have to answer any question that you do not wish aswer. You will receive compensation for your time in the amount of Kenya Shillings 150.00. You request to stop the interview or the recording at any time if you feel uncomfortable and still we the Kenya Shillings 150.00. Please feel free to ask any questions at any time about the study the methods that I am using. I will be available to answer any questions that you may have phone number is (0723) 709 088 and you can call me at any time.
revie	hake sure that you understand the procedures of this study, I am asking to also we this consent form with you and answer any questions that you may have. You can stop me at ime during the interview to ask questions of both myself and
Revie	arch at the University of Central Florida is carried out under the oversight of the Institutional ew Board. Questions or concerns about research participants' rights may be directed to the IRB office, University of Central Florida Office of Research, Orlando Tech Center, 12443 arch Parkway, Suite 207, Orlando, FL 32826. The phone number is (407) 823-2901.
Since	erely,
Muth	oni Kimemia
	I have read and understood the procedure. / The procedures have been explained to me. I voluntarily agree to participate in the interview. I grant my permission for the interview to be audio-recorded.
	UCF IRB
	0.01.4142
	approved SFD date s/30/200 S
	- Company

Participant	Date
WITNESS	
process included all the re making an informed decis	esentation of the informed consent information to the participant. The uired elements and in my judgment, the participant seemed capable of on. The participant was not coerced in any way and was given an the researcher any questions that they have.
Signature	Date

APPENDIX D: INSTRUMENTATION

Caregiver Demographic Questionnaire by Muthoni Kimemia

1. Y	our Gender				
	☐ Female				
	☐ Male				
2. Y	our age (CG)				
3. A	ge of Care Recipient				
4. W	hat is your estimated mont	hly household ir	ncome?		
5. N	umber of years in school				
6. H	ow many other people live i	n your househo	ld?		
7. H	ow long have you been prov	viding care for *	**?	mont	hs
8. H	ow many people are you cu	rrently providin	ng care for?		
9. Y	our HIV status				
	☐ Positive ☐ Ne	egative	☐ Don't knov	V	
10. 7	The care recipient is my:				
	☐ Spouse/significant other		☐ Parent		
	☐ Son/Daughter		☐ Sibling		
	☐ Relative/ Friend/ Other				
Plea	ase rate the care recipient's	functioning in ea	ach area:		
		1 Independent	2 Needs supervision	3 Needs assistance	4 Needs total help
11.	Walking		_		_
12.	Bathing				
13.	Dressing				
14.	Getting in and out of bed				
15.	Toileting	1			1

Thank you for completing this survey

7	ZARIT CAREGIVER BURDEN INTERVIEW				у	
Instructions: Instructions for caregiver: The questions below reflect how persons sometimes feel when they are taking care of another person. After each statement, circle the word that best describes how often you feel that way. There are no right or wrong answers.		0 - Never	1- Rarely	2 - Sometimes	3 - Quite Frequently	4 - Nearly always
1.	Do you feel that your relative asks for more help than he/she needs?					
2.	Do you feel that because of the time you spend with your relative that you don't have enough time for yourself?					
3.	Do you feel stressed between caring for your relative and trying to meet other responsibilities for your family or work?					
4.	Do you feel embarrassed over your relative's behavior					
5.	Do you feel angry when you are around your relative?					
6.	Do you feel that your relative currently affects your relationships with other family members or friends in a negative way?					
7.	Are you afraid what the future holds for your relative?					
8.	Do you feel your relative is dependent on you?					
9.	Do you feel strained when you are around your relative?					
10.	Do you feel your health has suffered because of your involvement with your relative?					
11.	Do you feel that you don't have as much privacy as you would like because of your relative?					
12.	Do you feel that your social life has suffered because you are caring for your relative?					

		0 - Never	1- Rarely	2 - Sometimes	3 - Quite Frequently	4 - Nearly always
13.	Do you feel uncomfortable about having friends over because of your relative?					
14.	Do you feel that your relative seems to expect you to take care of him/her as if you were the only one he/she could depend on?					
15.	Do you feel that you don't have enough money to take care of your relative in addition to the rest of your expenses?					
16.	Do you feel that you will be unable to take care of your relative much longer?					
17.	Do you feel you have lost control of your life since your relative's illness?					
18.	Do you wish you could leave the care of your relative to someone else?					
19.	Do you feel uncertain about what to do about your relative?					
20.	Do you feel you should be doing more for your relative?					
21.	Do you feel you could do a better job in caring for your relative?					
22.	Overall, how burdened do you feel in caring for your relative?					

Zarit, S. H., Reever, K.E, & Bach-Peterson, J. (1980). Relatives of the impaired elderly: correlates of feelings of burden. *Gerontologist*, 20, 6, 649–655.

Thank you for completing this survey

	BRIEF COPE	1- I haven't been doing this at all	doing this a	doing this a unt	doing this a
	Instructions: After each statement, indicate the response that best describes your situation. There are no right answers.		2- I've been doing this little bit	3- I've been doing this a medium amount	4- I've been doing this lot
1.	I've been turning to work or other activities to take my mind off things.				
2.	I've been concentrating my efforts on doing something about the situation I am in.				
3.	I've been saying to myself "this isn't real.				
4.	I've been using alcohol or other drugs to make myself feel better.				
5.	I've been getting emotional support from others.				
6.	I've been giving up trying to deal with it.				
7.	I've been taking action to try make the situation better.				
8.	I've been refusing to believe that it has happened.				
9.	I've been saying things to let my unpleasant feelings escape.				
10.	I've been getting help and advice from other people.				
11.	I've been using alcohol or other drugs to help me get through it.				
12.	I've been trying to see it in a different light, to make it seem more positive.				
13.	I've been criticizing myself.				
14.	I've been trying to come up with a strategy about what to do.				
15.	I've been getting comfort and understanding from someone.				
16.	I've been giving up the attempt to cope.				

CONTINUE HERE

		I haven't been doing this at all	I've been doing this a little bit	I've been doing this a medium amount	I've been doing this a lot
		I haver at all	I've beer little bit	I've be mediur	I've be
17.	I've been looking for something good in what is happening.				
18.	I've been making jokes about it.				
19.	I've been doing something to think about it less, such as going to movies, watching tv, reading, daydreaming, sleeping, or shopping.				
20.	I've been accepting the reality of the fact that it has happened.				
21.	I've been expressing my negative feelings.				
22.	I've been trying to find comfort in my religion or spiritual beliefs.				
23.	I've been trying to get advice or help from other people about what to do.				
24.	I've been learning to live with it.				
25.	I've been thinking hard about what steps to take.				
26.	I've been blaming myself for things that happened.				
27.	I've been praying or meditating				
28.	I've been making fun of the situation.				

Carver, C.S. (1997). You want to measure coping but your protocol's too long: Consider the Brief COPE. *International Journal of behavior Medicine*, *4*, 92-100.

Thank you for completing this survey

REFERENCES

- Abel, E. (1991). Who cares for the elderly? Public policy and the experiences of adult daughter. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- Akinsola, H. (2001). Fostering hope in people living with AIDS in Africa: the role of primary health-care workers. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, *9*, 158-165.
- Amoroso, A., Davis, C. & Redfield, R. (2002). Antiretroviral therapy in resource-limited settings. In: Essex M, *et al.*, eds. *AIDS in Africa*, 2nd ed. Dordrech: Kluwer Press.
- Aranda, M., Castaneda, I., Lee, P.,& Sobel, E. (2001). Stress, social support, and coping as predictors of depressive symptoms: gender differences among Mexican Americans. *Social Work Research*, *25*, *1*, 37-48.
- Badr, H. (2004). Coping in marital dyads: a contextual perspective on the role of gender and health. *Personal Relationships*, 11,2, 197-211.
- Bharat, S. 7 AGGLETON, p. (1999). Facing the challenge: household responses to HIV/AIDS in Mumbai, India. *AIDS Care*, 11, 31-44.
- Bor, R., Miller, R. & Goldman, E. (1993). HIV/AIDS and the family: a review of research in the first decade. *Journal of Family Therapy*, *15*, 187-204.
- Brown, M. & Powell-Cope, G. (1991). OAIDS family caregiving: transitions through uncertainty. *Nursing Research*, 40, 338-345.
- Brouwer, C., Lok, C., Wolffers, I. & Sebagalls, S. (2000). Psychosocial and economic aspects of HIV/AIDS and counselling of caretakers of HIV-infected children in Uganda. AIDS Care, 12, 5, 535-540.
- Bunting, S. (2001). Sustaining the relationship: women's caregiving in the context of

- HIV disease. Health Care for Women International, 22, 131-148.
- Callery, K. (2000). The role of stigma and psycho-social factors on perceived caregiver burden in HIV/AIDS gay male caregivers: (immune deficiency). Dissertation Abstracts International. Retrieved December 12th, 2005 from http://proquest.umi.
- Cargan, L. & Ballantine, J. (2000). Sociological footprints. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Campbell, S. (2004). Care of HIV/AIDS patients in developing countries. Primary Health Care, 14, 8, 22-27.
- Carver, C.S. (1997). You want to measure coping but your protocol's too long: Consider the Brief COPE. *International Journal of behavior Medicine*, *4*, 92-100.
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., & Weintraub, J. K. (1989). Assessing coping strategies: A theoretically based approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 56, 267-283.
- Center for Disease Control (CDC). (1992). *AIDS surveillance report*. Atlanta, GA: Author.
- Center for Disease Control. (1998). *HIV/AIDS surveillance*, US Department of Health and Human Services.
- Chimwaza, A. & Watkins, S. (2004). Giving care to people with symptoms of AIDS in rural sub-Saharan Africa. *AIDS Care*, *16*, *7*, 795-807.
- Coolidge, F., Segal, D., Hook, J. & Stewart, S. (2000). Personality disorder s and coping among anxious older adults. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 14, 2, 157-172.
- Cooper, C., Katona, C., Orrell, M. & Livingston, G. (2006). Coping strategies and anxiety in caregivers of people with Alzheimer's disease: the LASER-AD study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 90, 15-20.

- Cummings, J., Frank, J., Cherry, D., Kohatsu, N., Kemp, B., Hewett, L. & Mittman, B. (2002). Guidelines for managing Alzheimer's disease: part 1 assessment.

 *American Family Physicians, 65, 11. Retrieved February 28th from http://www.aafp.org.
- Daire, A. (2004). Investigating caregiver distress with the parental bonding instrument (PBI). *Dementia*, *3*, *1*, 83-94.
- Daire, A. (2002). The influence of parental bonding on emotional distress in caregiving sons for a parent with dementia. *The Gerontologist*, 42, 766-771.
- Davis, T. (1998). An assessment of psychosocial needs and coping behaviors in caregivers of children with HIV-infection. *Master of Science in Nursing Thesis*,

 University of Texas at Arlington.
- D'Cruz, P. (2004). Family care in HIV/AIDS: Exploring lived experience. New Delhi, India: Sage Publications.
- Dilworth,-Anderson, P., Williams, S. & Cooper, T. (1999). Family caregiving to elderly African Americans: caregiving types and structures. *Journal of Gerontology:*Social Sciences, 54B, 235-241.
- Dixon, S., McDonald, S. & Roberts, J. (2002). The impact of HIV and AIDS on Africa's economic development. *British Medical Journal*, 324, 232-234.
- Evans, R. (2005). Social networks, migration, and care in Tanzania caregivers' and children's resilience to coping with HIV/AIDS. *Journal of Children & Poverty*, 11, 2, 111-129.
- Flaskerud, J. & Tabora, B. (1998). Health problems of low-income female caregivers of adults with HIV/AIDS. *Health Care for Women International*, 19, 23-36.

- Fogel, J. (2004). Internet breast health information use and coping among women with breast cancer. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 7, 1, 59-63.
- Folkman, S. (1997). Positive psychological states and coping with severe stress. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 45, 8, 1207-1221.
- Folkman, S., Chesney, M., Cooke, M., Boccellari, A. & Collette, L. (1994). Caregiver burden in HIV-positive and HIV-negative partners of men with AIDS. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 62, 4, 746-756.
- Freeman, M. (2004). HIV/AIDS in developing countries: heading towards a mental health and consequent social disaster? South African Journal of Psychology, 34, 1, 139-159.
- Gallagher D, Rappaport M, Benedict A, et al. (1985). Reliability of selected interview and self-report measures with family caregivers. Paper presented at the 38th Annual Scientific Meeting of the Gerontological Society of America, New Orleans.
- Gallicchio, L., Siddiqi, N., Langenberg, P. & Baumgarten, M. (2002). Gender difference in burden and depression among informal caregivers of demented elders in the community. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 12, 154-163.
- George, L. & Gwyther, L. (1986). Caregiver well-being: a multidimensional examination of family caregivers of demented adults. *Gerontologist*, 20, 649-655.
- Glajchen, M., Kornblith, A., Homel, P., Fraidin, L., Mauskop, A. & Portenoy, R. (2005).

 Development of a Brief Assessment Scale for Caregivers of the Medically Ill. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 29, 3, 245-254.

- Godwin, P. (1998). Another social development crisis? In P. Godwin (Ed.). *The looming epidemic: The impact of HIV and AIDS in India*. London: Hurst and Company.
- Gordon, P. & Perrone, K. (2004). When spouses become caregivers: counseling implications for younger couples. *Journal of Rehabilitation*, 70, 2, 27-32.
- Gutierrez-Maldonado, J., Caqueo-Urizar, A. & Kavanagh, D. (2005). Burden of care and general health in families of patients with schizophrenia. *Social Psychiatry Epidemiology*, 40, 899-904.
- Hackl, K., Somlai, A., Kelly, J. & Kalichman, S. (1997). Living with HIV/AIDS: the dual challenge of being a patient and caregiver. *Health and Social Work*, 22, 1, 53-62.
- Hair, j., Anderson, R., Tatham, R. & Black, W. (1998). *Multivariate data analysis*. Upper Saddle River: Prentice Hall.
- Hansen, K., Woelk, G., Jackson, H., Kerkhoven, R., Manjonjori, N., Maramba, P., Mutambirwa, J., Ndimande, E. & Vera, E. (1998). The cost of home based care for HIV/AIDS patients in Zimbabwe. *AIDS Care*, *10*, 751-759.
- Hanson, R. (2000). Personal, familial, and social predictors of burden in HIV/AIDS informal caregivers. Dissertation Abstracts International. Retrieved January 25th, 2006 from http://proquest.umi.
- Hebert, R., Bravo, G., & Preville, M. (2000). Reliability, validity and reference values of the Zarit Burden Interview for assessing informal caregivers of community-dwelling older persons with dementia. *Canadian Journal of Aging 19*, 494–507.
- Hendrick, J. (2000). The impact of HIV on caregivers. PHASE: Canadian Psychological Association and Health Canada. Module developed for Queen Elizabeth II Health Sciences Center. Halifax, NS: Canada Psychological Association.

- Hooker, K., Monahan, D., Shifren, K. & Hutchison, C. (1992). Mental and physical health of spouse caregivers: the role of personality. *Psychology and Aging*, 7, 3, 367-375.
- Hooyman, N. & Gonyea, J. (1995). Feminist perspectives on family care: policies for gender justice. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Joseph, E. & Bhatti, R. (2004). Psychosocial problems and coping patterns of HIV seropositive wives of men with HIV/AIDS. *Social Work in Health Care*, *39*, *1*/2, 29-47.
- Kaaya, S. & Smith Fawzi, M. (1999). HIV counseling in sub-Saharan Africa. *AIDS*, 13, 12, 1577-1579.
- Kalichman, S. & Simbayi, L. (2004). Traditional beliefs about the cause of AIDS and AIDS-related stigma in South Africa. *AIDS Care*, *16*, *5*, 572-580.
- Karim, A.Q. & Karim, S. S. (2002). The evolving HIV epidemic in South Africa.
 International Journal of Epidemiology, 31, 37-40.
- Karlikaya, G., Yukse, G., Varlibas, F. & Tireli, H. (2005). Caregiver burden in dementia: a study in the Turkish population. *Internet Journal of Neurology, 4, 2*. Retrieved February 20th, 2006 from http://sas.epnet.com.
- Kaye, L. & Applegate, J. (1990). Men as caregivers to the elderly: Understanding and aiding unrecognized family support. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books
- Keeling, R. (1993). Commentary: educating and counseling about HIV in the second decade. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 71, 3, 306-314.
- Kenya, Ministry of Health (2001). AIDS in Kenya. Ministry of Health Report.

- Kinney, J. & Stephens, M. (1989). Hassles and uplifts of giving care to a family member with dementia. *Psychology and Aging*, *4*, 402-408.
- Knight, B., Merrill, S., McCallum, S. & Fox, L. (2000). A sociocultural stress and coping model for mental health outcomes among African-American caregivers in Southern California. *Journal of Gerontology: Psychological Sciences*, 55B, 142-150.
- Kusimba, J., Fish, D., Ndirangu, W., Plummer, F. & Nagelkerke, N. (1996). HIV/AIDS within the family: women's responses and needs. *AIDS in Kenya: Socioeconomic Impact and Policy Implications. Family Health International USA: USAID*.
- Lazarus, R. & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. New York: Springer.
- LeBlanc, A., London, A. & Aneshensel, C. (1997). The physical costs of AIDS caregiving. Social Science Medicine, 45, 915-923.
- Lesar, S. & Maldonado, Y. (1997). The impact of children with HIV infection on the family system. *Families in Societies*, 78, 272-279.
- Lindgren, T., Rankin, S., Rankin, W. & N'goma, J. (2005). Malawi women and HIV: socio-cultural factors and barriers to prevention. *Journal of Women & Health*, 41, 1, 69-85.
- Lindsey, E., Hirschfeld, M., Tlou, S. & Ncube, E. (2003). Home-based care in Botswana: experiences of older women and young girls. *Health Care for Women International*, 24, 486-501.
- Linsk, N. & Poindexter, C. (2002). Older caregivers for family members with HIV or AIDS: reasons for caring. *The Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 19, 2, 181-202.

- MacNeil, J. (1996). Use of culture care theory with Baganda women as AIDS caregivers. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 7, 1, 14-20.
- Martin-Cook, K., Trimmer, C. & Svetlik, D. (2000). Caregiver burden in Alzheimer's disease: case studies. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 15, 1, 47-52.
- Martire, L., Stephens, M., & Franks, M. (1997). Multiple roles of women caregivers: feelings of mastery and self-esteem as predictors of psychosocial well-being.

 *Journal of Women & Aging. 9, ½, 117-131.
- McCausland, J. & Pakenheim, K. (2003). Investigation of the benefits of HIV/AIDS caregiving and relations among caregiving adjustment, benefit finding, and stress and coping variables. *AIDS Care*, *15*, *6*, 853-869.
- Mellins, C. & Ehrhardt, A. (1994). Families affected by pediatric acquired immunodeficiency syndrome: Sources of stress and coping. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, 15, 54-60
- Meyer, B. (2001). Coping with severe mental illness: relations of the Brief COPE with symptoms, functioning, and well-being. *Journal of Psychopathology & Behavioral Assessment*, 23, 4, 265-277.
- Miller, B. & Snigdha, M. (1999). Service use, caregiving mastery and attitudes towards community services. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 18, 162-176.
- Monat, A. & Lazarus, R. (Eds.) (1991). *Stress and coping: An anthology (3rd Ed)*. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Moore, A. & Henry, D. (2005). Experiences of older informal caregivers to people with HIV/AIDS in Lome, Togo. *Ageing International*, *30*, 2, 147-166.

- Motenko, A. (1989). The frustrations, gratifications, and well-being of dementia caregivers. *The Gerontologist*, 29, 166-172.
- Mui, A. (1992). Caregiving strain among black and white daughter caregivers: a role theory perspective. *The Gerontologist*, *32*, 203-212.
- Muller, L. & Spitz, E. (2003). Multidimensional assessment of coping: validation of the Brief COPE among a French population. *Encéphale*, 29, 6, 507-518.
- Mushonga, R. (2001). Social support, coping and perceived burden of female caregivers of HIV/AIDS patients in rural Zimbabwe. Dissertation Abstracts International.

 Retrieved July 15th, 2005 from http://proquest.umi.
- Navaie-Waliser, M., Feldman, P., Gould, D., Levine, C., Kuerbis, A. & Donelan, K. (2001). The experiences and challenges of informal caregivers: common themes and differences among whites, blacks and Hispanics. *The Gerontologist*, 41, 6, 1733-741.
- Ngugi, E. & Njenga, E. (1995). Integrating community-based AIDS care into existing urban health units in Nairobi, Kenya: a feasibility study. *Consultancy Report for WHO*. Nairobi, 1995.
- Nkowane, A. (1993). Breaking the silence: need for counseling for HIV/AIDS patients.

 International *Nursing Review*, 40, 1, 17-20.
- Nunley, B. (2002). Stress, hardiness, and psychological distress of elderly spousal caregivers of persons with dementia. *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences & Engineering*, 63, 2-B.
- Nyambedha, E., Wandibba, S., & Aagaard-Hansen, J. (2003). "Retirement lost"- the new

- role of the elderly as caretakers for orphans in western Kenya. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*, 18, 33-52.
- Nzioka, C. (2000). The social meanings of death from HIV/AIDS: an African interpretive view. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 2, 1, 1-14.
- Olenja, J. (1999). Assessing community attitude towards home-based care for people with HIV/AIDS (PWAS) in Kenya. *Journal of Community Health*, 24, 3, 187-199.
- Olley, B., Seedat, S., Nei, D. & Stein, D. (2004). Predictors of major depression in recently diagnosed patients with HIV/AIDS South Africa. *AIDS Patient Care & STDs*, 18, 8, 481-487.
- Olley, B., Zeier, M., Seedat. S. & Stein, D. (2005). Post-traumatic stress disorder among recently diagnosed patients with HIV/AIDS in South Africa. *AIDS Care*, 17, 5, 550-557.
- Onishi, J., Suzuki, Y., Umegaki, H., Nakamura, A., Endo, H. & Iguchi, A. (2005).

 Influence of behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia (BPSD) and environment of care on caregivers' burden. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 41, 159-168.
- Pakenham, K. (2001). Adjustment to multiple sclerosis caregiving: application of a stress and coping model to caregiving in multiple sclerosis. *Psychology, Health and Medicine*, 6, 13-27.
- Pakenham, K., Dadds, M., & Terry, D. (1994). The relationships between adjustment to HIV and both social support and coping strategies. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 62, 1194-1203.

- Parks, S. & Novielli, K. (2000). A practical guide to caring for caregivers. *American Family Physician*, 62, 12. Retrieved February 20th, 2006 from http://aafp.org.
- Parks, S. & Pilisuk, M. (1991). Caregiver burden: gender and the psychological costs of caregiving. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 61, 501-509.
- Patterson, A. (20005). Introduction: the African state and the AIDS crisis. In A. Patterson (2005). *The African state and the AIDS crisis*. England: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Pearce, M. (2005). A critical review of the forms and value of religious coping among informal caregivers. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 44, 1, 81-118.
- Perczek, R., Carver, C. S., Price, A. A., & Pozo-Kaderman, C. (2000). Coping, mood, and aspects of personality in Spanish translation and evidence of convergence with English versions. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 74, 63-87.
- Picot, S. (1995). Rewards, cost and coping of African American caregivers. *Nursing Research*, 44, 3, 147-152.
- Poindexter, C. & Linsk, N. (1999). Sources of support in a sample of HIV affected older minority caregivers. *Families in Society*, 79, 491-503.
- Powell-Cope, G. & Brown, M. (1992). Going public as an AIDS family caregiver. *Social Science and Medicine*, *34*, 571-580.
- Prachakul, W. & Grant, J. (2003). Informal caregivers of persons with HIV/AIDS. *Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS care, 14, 3,* 55-71.
- Pratt, C., Schmall, V., Wright, S., & Cleland, M. (1985). Burden and coping strategies of caregivers to Alzheimer's patients. *Family relations*, *34*, 27-33.

- Ramanathan, K., Tarantola, D. & Marlink, R. (2002). Access to HIV and AIDS care. In Essex, M., Mboup, S., Kanki, P., Marlink, R. & Tlou, S. (Eds). *AIDS in Africa*.

 Amsterdam: Kluwer Academic.
- Rau, B., Forsythe, S. & Okeyo, T. (1996). An introduction to Kenya's epidemic. *AIDS in Kenya: Socioeconomic Impact and Policy Implications. Family Health International USA: USAID.*
- Rose, M. & Clark-Alexander, B. (1999). Coping styles of caregivers of children with HIV/AIDS: Implications for health professionals. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 13, 6, 335-342.
- Rosenvinge, H., Jones, D., Judge, E. & Martin, A. (1998). Demented and chronic depressed patients attending a day hospital. Stress experiences by carers.

 International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 13, 8-11.
- Rutman, D. (1996). Caregiving as women's work: women's experiences of powerfulness and powerlessness as caregivers. *Qualitative Health Research*, 6, 1, 90-110.
- Sawatzky, J. & Fowler-Kerry, S. (2003). Impact of caregiving: listening to the voice of informal caregivers. *Journal of Psychiatry and Mental Health Nursing*, 10, 277-286.
- Schulz, R & Beach, S. (1999). Caregiving as a risk factor for mortality: the caregiver health effects study. *JAMA*, 282, 2215-2219.
- Segall, M. & Wykle, M. (1985). The black family's experience with dementia. *Journal of Applied Social Science*, 13, 1, 171-191.

- Sepulveda, C., Habiyambere, V., Amandua, J., Borok, M., Kikule, E., Mudanga, B., Ngoma, T. & Solomon, B. 92003). Quality care at the end of life in Africa. education and debate. *British Medical Journal*, 327, 209-213.
- Sheier, M., Matthews, K., Owens, J., Magovern, G., Lefebvre, R., Abbott, R., & Carver, C. (1989). Dispositional optimism and recovery from coronary artery bypass surgery: the beneficial effects on physical and psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *57*, 1024-1040.
- Smith, M. & Glass, G. (1987). Research and evaluation in education and the social sciences. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Songwathana, P. (2001). Women and AIDS caregiving: women's work? *Health Care for Women International*, 22, 263-279.
- Spurlock, W. (2002). Spiritual well-being and caregiver burden in primary family caregivers of community dwelling persons with Alzheimer's disease and related disorders. Dissertation Abstracts International. Retrieved on August 14, 2005 from http://proquest.umi.com.
- Stajduhar, K. (1998). Palliative care at home: reflections on HIV/AIDS family caregiving experiences. *Journal of Palliative Care*, 14, 2, 14-22.
- Stewart, M., Hart, G. & Mann, K. (1995). Living with hemophilia and HIV/AIDS: support and coping. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 22, 1101-1111.
- Takahashi, M., Tanaka, K. & Miyaoka, H. (2005). Depression and associated factors of informal caregivers versus professional caregivers of demented patients.
 Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences 59, 473-480.

- The 10/66 Dementia Research Group (2004). Care arrangements for people with dementia in developing countries. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 19, 170-177.
- Tolliver, D. (2001). African American female caregivers of family members living with HIV/AIDS. Families in Society: *The Journal of Contemporary Human Services*, 145-156.
- UNAIDS [Joint United Nations Program on HIV/AIDS]. (2000). *Caring for carers*. Geneva: UNAIDS.
- UNAIDS (2002). The Economic impact of AIDS in Africa. A review of the literature.

 Geneva: UNAIDS. Retrieved on July 26th, 2005 from http://www.unaids.org.
- UNAIDS (2004). Report on the global AIDS epidemic. Geneva: UNAIDS.
- UNAIDS/WHO (2004). AIDS epidemic update. Retrieved July 20th from www.unaids.org/wad2004/report.html.
- UNAIDS (2005). AIDS epidemic update. Geneva: UNAIDS.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (1997). Administration on aging update.Washington, DC: Administration on Aging.
- Victoroff, J., Mack, W. & Neilson, K. (1998). Psychiatric complications of dementia: impact on caregivers. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 9, 50-55.
- Vollmer, N., & Valadez, J. (1999). A psychological epidemiology of people seeking HIV/AIDS counselling in Kenya: an approach for improving counsellor training.
- World Health Organization [WHO] (2000). Key elements in HIV/AIDS care and support. WHO/UNAIDS, Geneva.
- Wyller, T., Thommessen, K., Sedring, K., Sveen, U., Pettersen, A., Bautz-Holter, E. &

- Laake, K. (2001). Emotional well-being of close relatives to stroke survivors. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *17*, 410-417.
- Wight, R. G. (2000). Precursive depression among HIV infected AIDS caregivers over time. *Social Science & Medicine*, *51*, 759-770.
- Zarit, S. (2004). Family care and burden at the end of Life. *JAMC*, 170, 12, 1811-1812.
- Zarit, S., Stephens, M. & Townsend, A. (1998). Stress reduction for family caregivers: effects of adult day care use. *Journal of Gerontology: Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 53B, 267-277.
- Zarit, S., Reever, K., & Bach-Peterson, J. (1980). Relatives of the impaired elderly: correlates of feelings of burden. *The Gerontologist*, 20, 649-655.
- Zarit, S. & Zarit, J. (1980). The memory and behavior problems checklist and the burden interview. *Gerontology Center*. Penn State, Pennsylvania.